ALMA MATER STUDIORUM UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI BOLOGNA

FACOLTÀ DI AGRARIA

Dipartimento di Colture Arboree

Dottorato di Ricerca in Colture Arboree ed Agrosistemi Forestali Ornamentali e Paesaggistici – AGR/03

XXIII Ciclo

Organic fertilization of peach trees: implication on nitrogen availability, root growth and carbon distribution within plant

Presentata dalla Dott.ssa KATHERINE CECILIA BRAVO ROMERO

Tutore: Dott. MORENO TOSELLI Coordinatore: Prof. LUCA CORELLI GRAPPADELLI

Co-Tutore: Dott.ssa ELENA BALDI

ABSTRACT

In the last years, sustainable horticulture has been increasing; however, to be successful this practice needs an efficient soil fertility management to maintain a high productivity and fruit quality standards. For this purpose composted organic materials from agri-food industry and municipal solid waste has been used as a source to replace chemical fertilizers and increase soil organic matter. To better understand the influence of compost application on soil fertility and plant growth, we carried out a study comparing organic and mineral nitrogen (N) fertilization in micro propagated plants, potted trees and commercial peach orchard with these aims: 1. evaluation of tree development, CO₂ fixation and carbon partition to the different organs of two-years-old potted peach trees. 2. Determination of soil N concentration and nitrate-N effect on plant growth and root oxidative stress of micro propagated plant after increasing rates of N applications. 3. Assessment of soil chemical and biological fertility, tree growth and yield and fruit quality in a commercial orchard. The addition of compost at high rate was effective in increasing CO₂ fixation, promoting root growth, shoot and fruit biomass. Furthermore, organic fertilizers influenced C partitioning, favoring C accumulation in roots, wood and fruits. The higher CO₂ fixation was the result of a larger tree leaf area, rather than an increase in leaf photosynthetic efficiency, showing a stimulation of plant growth by application of compost. High concentrations of compost increased total soil N concentration, but were not effective in increasing nitrate-N soil concentration; in contrast mineral-N applications increased linearly soil nitrate-N, even at the lowest rate tested. Soil nitrate-N concentration influenced positively plant growth at low rate (60- 80 mg kg⁻¹), whereas at high concentrations showed negative effects. In this trial, the decrease of root growth, as a response to excessive nitrate-N soil concentration, was not anticipated by root oxidative stress. Continuous annual applications of compost for 10 years enhanced soil organic matter content and total soil N concentration. Additionally, high rate of compost application (10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) enhanced microbial biomass. On the other hand, different fertilizers management did not modify tree yield, but influenced fruit size and precocity index. The present data support the idea that organic fertilizers can be used successfully as a substitute of mineral fertilizers in fruit tree nutrient management, since they promote an increase of soil chemical and biological fertility, prevent excessive nitrate-N soil concentration, promote plant growth and potentially C sequestration into the soil.

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Soil Organic Matter	1
1.1.1. Organic Components	1
1.1.2. Factors affecting the organic matter content of soil	3
1.1.3. Effect of OM on soil properties	5
1.1.4. Organic fertilization	7
1.2. Nitrogen	13
1.2.1. Nitrogen cycle	14
1.2.2. Plant N nutrition and N accumulation in plants	16
1.2.3. Nitrogen environmental impact	20
1.2.4. Negative effect of N on plant growth	22
1.3. Aim of the thesis	23
2. EFFECT OF ORGANIC FERTILIZATION ON GROWTH	AND
CARBON PARTITIONING OF PEACH TREES.	25
2.1. Materials and methods	25
2.1.1. Plant materials and treatments	25
2.1.2. ¹³ C plant enrichment and partitioning	27
2.1.3. Canopy analysis	28
2.1.4. Soil analysis	28

2.2. Results

2.1.5. Statistical analysis

2. Results	30
2.2.1. Biomass production	30
2.2.2. Leaf ¹³ C partitioning	32
2.2.3. Organ C concentrations and ¹³ C content	32
2.2.4. Relative ¹³ C partitioning	35
2.2.5. Leaf chlorophyll and CO_2 assimilation rate.	37

I

30

			38
			39
H AND	OXIDA	ATIVE STRE	SS TO
OF	SOIL	MINERAL	AND
			43
			43
			43
			44
			46
			46
			46
			46
			46
			51
			55
			60
			63
	H AND OF	H AND OXIDA OF SOIL	H AND OXIDATIVE STREA OF SOIL MINERAL

4. EFFECT OF ORGANIC FERTILIZATION ON SOIL FERTILITY, TREE NUTRITIONAL STATUS AND PRODUCTIVITY 67 4.1. Materials and methods 67 4.1.1. Plant materials and treatments 67 4.1.2. Soil analysis 68 4.1.3. Canopy analysis 68 4.1.4. Fruit production 69 4.1.5. Statistical analysis 69 4.2. Results 69 4.2.1. Soil fertility 69 4.2.2. Leaf chlorophyll and mineral nutrient concentration 73 4.2.3. Fruit quality and plant productivity 76

4.3. Discussion	79
5. CONCLUSIONS	81
6. REFERENCES	83

1. INTRODUCTION

World annual fertilizer consumption steadily rose from 30 million t in 1960 to 143 million t in 1990, arriving up to 170 million in the past few years (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). Global nitrogen (N) fertilizer application rate increased almost twenty fold in the last 50 years, reaching almost 100 million t per year; though, an important portion of this is lost under field conditions (Glass, 2003). In fact, global estimate indicates that nearly 50% of N fertilizer applied is removed by crops, 2 to 5% is stored in the soil and the residual 45-48% has a negative effect on the environment, by being leached to aquatic systems or emitted into the atmosphere (Galloway et al., 2004). The excessive use of mineral fertilizers and the development of intensive agricultural practices have contributed to reduce organic matter (OM) concentration in most Mediterranean soils, leading to increased risk of erosion and fertility losses (Melero et al., 2007). In many Italian soils the OM concentration is lower than 1.5% (Ungaro et al., 2002).

Recently, sustainable agriculture is increasing; however, to be successful this practice needs the increasing of environment friendless practices implies an efficient soil fertility management, because soil quality determines the sustainability and productivity of agroecosystems (Prasad and Power, 1997; Melero et al., 2007).

1.1. Soil Organic Matter

Soil OM plays a vital role on the properties of soils and represents the greatest terrestrial reservoir in the global carbon (C) cycle. It contains approximately 1500 Gt of organic C that is twice the amount present in the atmosphere (Oades, 1995; Amundson, 2001)

1.1.1. Organic Components

Soil OM includes a wide variety of microorganisms, animals and plant tissues in different stages of decomposition (Dell'Agnola et al., 1993; Wolf and Snyder, 2003). According to the decomposition stages, soil OM can be divided into two groups: the first one, called litter, usually lies on soil surface, consists in degraded materials in which the anatomy of the plant substance is still visible, and has major effects in soil physics characteristics (e.g. affecting soil structure, decreasing bulk density, etc.). The second one, a complex known as humus, includes a major portion of soil OM, consists of completely decomposed and unrecognizable materials that play major roles in physicochemical properties of soils, like soil aggregation, aggregate stability and cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Bot and Benites, 2005;

1

Tan, 2011). Humus is a complex mixture of dark-brown, amorphous and colloidal substances modified from the original plant material or synthesized by various soil organisms (Prasad and Power, 1997). Although more stable than the organic materials from which it is derived, humus is transitory in nature, easily degraded by oxidation and broken down by soil microorganisms that use it as food and energy source (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Tan, 2011). Humus has different properties such as complex formation with clay or other silicate surfaces, storage and release of soil N, buffer capacity, anion and CEC, adsorption of pesticides and other agricultural chemicals (Prasad and Power, 1997). Humus consists of non-humic and humic substances, the latter being the major part (table 1.1). The non-humic compounds are proteins, amino acids, starch and sugars that are directly released from fresh residues cells; usually this portion of humus is strongly influenced by weather conditions, soil moisture, growth stage of vegetation and addition of organic residues, thus it is easily decomposed (Bot and Benites, 2005).

Type of materialUsual range (% by we		
Non-humic substances		
Lipids	1 – 6	
Carbohydrates	5 - 25	
Proteins/peptides/amino acids	9-16	
Other	trace	
Humic substances	up to 80	

 f_{1} T-LL 11 D.

On the other hand, humic substance consists of a series of highly acid, yellow to black colored polyelectrolytes (Stevenson and Cole, 1999), abundant in carboxyl groups, with weak acidic phenolic groups, free-radicals that can fix small molecules by both hydrogen bounding and nonpolar interactions (MacCarthy, 2001). Humic substances exhibit hydrophobic and hydrophilic characteristics (MacCarthy, 2001) that confers them the ability to form complexes with metal ions, oxides, hydroxides, mineral and organic compounds, thereby affecting nutrient availability (Bot and Benites, 2005). Based on their solubility, the humic compounds are classified into three groups: fulvic acids, humic acids and humin.

Fulvic acids are soluble in water under all pH conditions; they have the lowest molecular weight and a common light yellow to yellow-brown color. They are produced in the earlier stages of humus formation, with high oxygen (O2) and low hydrogen (H) and N content, and are easily attacked by microorganisms (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Bot and Benites, 2005; Tan, 2011). Humic acids are soluble in water with a pH > 2; they have a medium molecular weight and their common color is dark brown to black; they have high C and N content and are semi-resistant to microbial action (Bot and Benites, 2005; Tan, 2011). Humin is not soluble in water at any pH; is commonly black and has the highest molecular weight. It is inert and the most resistant to decomposition (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Bot and Benites, 2005).

1.1.2. Factors affecting the organic matter content of soil

The OM concentration in the soil depends on inputs and mineralization rate. Plants are the main source of OM, that is supplied as leaves, other plant residues, and rhizodeposition (Dell'Agnola et al., 1993). Rhizodeposition is considered the largest source of OM because it can be physically protected by soil clay matrix and also because it consists mainly of roots that have a resistance to mineralization due to the great concentration of lignin and phenolic compounds (Oades, 1995; Bolinder et al., 1999; Wolf and Snyder, 2003). The continuing addition of plant residues to the soil surface enhances the biological activity of soil and C cycling processes in the soil (figure 1.1).

The rate of accumulation and mineralization of organic compounds depends on many factors, such as climate, parental material, topographic position, biota and human activity (Amundson, 2001; Trumbore, 2009).

Temperature and precipitation are the most significant factors (Prasad and Power, 1997) that affect soil OM. Temperature is a key factor controlling the rate of decomposition since it affects the activity of soil micro-organisms, that present a $Q_{10} \ge 2$ (Amundson, 2001).



Figure 1.1 Soil carbon cycling process (Bot and Benites, 2005).

Soils in cooler climates commonly present a higher concentration of OM (figure 1.2) because of the reduced microbial activity for most of the year; in contrast, in tropical climate, decomposition occurs rapidly (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Bot and Benites, 2005).

Precipitations play an important role in soil OM accumulation, which increases with mean annual precipitation (figure 1.2) (Bot and Benites, 2005). Intermediate ranges of moisture (close to field capacity) stimulate soil OM decomposition; on the other hand, water saturation leads to anaerobic conditions that increases soil OM residence times (Amundson, 2001).

Topography produces a strong effect on the amount of organic matter in the soil by modifying the microclimate



Figure 1.2 Typical trend of organic matter accumulation in the A horizons of grassland soils as influenced by average precipitation and temperature (Troeh and Thompson, 2005).

and vegetation; it also affects water and soil movement (Troeh and Thompson, 2005). Organic matter usually accumulates at the bottom of hills, because of the higher moisture than in the mid or upper slope positions and also because OM is transported to the lowest point through runoff and erosion (Bot and Benites, 2005).

Parental material influences OM accumulation in soil, mainly by affecting soil texture. Sandy soils permit more rapid decomposition than finer-textured soils, because they are usually warmer and better aerated. In contrast, soil clay content is positively correlated to the organic content (Oades, 1988; Troeh and Thompson, 2005), because the clay fractions protect soil OM from microbial action by making aggregates that adsorb OM on their surfaces (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Bot and Benites, 2005).

Recent estimate assesses that agricultural practices reduce OM accumulation in soils decreasing the original soil C content of about 30% (Amundson, 2001). Tillage, for example, disturbs soil aggregates and exposes OM to decomposition; tillage also rises soil temperature and consequently microbial activity (Amundson, 2001). On the other hand, the use of fertilizer, especially N, and pesticides can increase microorganisms activity and enhances decomposition of soil OM (Bot and Benites, 2005).

1.1.3. Effect of OM on soil properties

Soil OM influences chemical, physical and biological properties of soils; thereby it is imperative to keep it at optimal content in order to have a healthy soil.

1.1.3.1. Physical properties

Physical properties, especially soil structure, are closely related to the amount and quality of soil OM. Soil structure describes the manner in which soil particles are arranged into larger units; this property affects soil aeration and water infiltration, thus affecting root growth (De Nobili and Maggioni, 1993; Wolf and Snyder, 2003). Soil OM improves soil structure and consequently enhances water infiltration and increases air porosity, allowing better movement of water and air through the soil. Organic matter also reduces soil bulk density, because it is much lighter than a similar volume of other soil components, and it also increases aggregate stability that benefits pore space (Wolf and Snyder, 2003).

Additionally OM can retain a larger amount of water, thus affecting soil temperature; in fact, the soil gets warm and cool slower with elevated water content. Soil temperature is also affected by soil color, because it affects the solar energy absorption. The dark color of OM increases soil temperature (De Nobili and Maggioni, 1993).

1.1.3.2. Biological properties

Soil OM influences the number and kinds of organisms (microfauna and microflora) that are present in a soil (Wolf and Snyder, 2003). Organic matter plays a key role in the protection of soil enzyme activity, which has an ephemeral existence if they do not find a suitable organic substrate (Sequi and Nannipieri, 1989; Pérez-Piqueres et al., 2006; Hargreaves et al., 2008). Enzymes such as urease and phosphatase, for example, take advantage from the presence of OM and make it possible reactions of hydrolysis even under unfavorable conditions for microbial life by preventing the leaching of N and phosphorus (P) (Perucci, 1992; Giusquiami et al., 1995). Several authors have observed that after application of OM, soil enzyme activity increased, along with microbial activity (García-Gil et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2004; Böhme et al., 2005). On the other hand, OM soil applications as compost can influence microbial community composition and enhance the competition and/or antagonism among microbes, leading to a decrease of plant pathogens (Pérez-Piqueres et al., 2006).

1.1.3.3. Chemical properties

Soil OM plays an important role in soil pH neutralization especially in sub alkaline soils, where OM decomposition produces acid compounds that decrease pH. Moreover, it affects plant nutrition directly or indirectly; in the first case OM increases the availability of nutrient through mineralization by enhancing microorganisms activity (De Nobili and Maggioni, 1993; Bot and Benites, 2005). The indirect effect is related to the production of chelates, which are substances that bound several metallic elements, such as iron (Fe), copper (Cu) and zinc (Zn), making them available over a wide ranges of pH. Moreover soil OM reduces the immobilization of P, aluminium (Al), Fe and manganese (Mg), leaving them available for plant uptake (Wolf and Snyder, 2003).

On the other hand, OM increases CEC of soil that is the capacity of soils to adsorb and exchange cations (Tan, 2011). An elevated CEC in the soil increases the retention capability of cations such as ammonium (NH_4^+) , potassium (K^+) , calcium (Ca^{++}) and magnesium (Mg^{++}) , increasing the mineral reservoir of nutrients available for plant growth (De Nobili and Maggioni, 1993; Wolf and Snyder, 2003).

1.1.4. Organic fertilization

The accumulation of OM in the soil is a slow process, it may take from decades to centuries; however, its degradation is very fast, due mainly to human activity. According to the European Commission (*COM2006/231*) "the decrease in organic matter content in soils is considered a threat and an element of land degradation"; moreover, the Kyoto protocol indicates that soil plays an important role in the storage of C, so that it is necessary to protect soil OM and increase its content.

In the Mediterranean climate, the high summer temperatures along with the intensive cultivation of land are responsible for an elevated consumption of soil OM through a high annual mineralization rate (Perucci et al., 1997).

Due to continuous decomposition in cultivated soils, it is necessary to restore adequate level of OM. A way to supply OM into agricultural systems is the addition of exogenous organic material, such as manure, compost and peats, biosolids, etc.

The use of fresh, immature organic matter should be used carefully because it competes with roots for O_2 (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008), may reduce soil mineral N availability due an intense microbial activity (De Nobili, 1999; Micciulla and Benedetti 1999), and might release compounds toxic for plants such as acetic acid (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008). Thus, organic amendments must be stabilized through a composting process before their application.

1.1.4.1. Manure

Manure is organic matter deriving from animal faeces and urine usually mixed with plant material (such as wheat straw), which has been used as bedding for animal. Common forms of animal manure include farmyard manure (FYM) or farm slurry (liquid manure). Agricultural manure in liquid form, known as slurry, is produced by more intensive livestock rearing systems, where concrete or slats are used, instead of straw bedding. Animal wastes vary in chemical composition, physical form and quantities produced and the major factors affecting this variability are 1) the digestive physiology of animal species; 2) the composition and form of the diet; 3) the stage of growth and productivity of the animal; and 4) the management system of waste collection and storage (Azevedo and Stout, 1974). The waste from different species has different physical characteristics, for example, sheep, equine and poultry waste contains less moisture than waste from dairy, beef and swine due to differences in the physiological mechanisms for water retention and excretion (table 1.2).

Animal	Dry matter	Ν	Р	K	Ca
manure	(%)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)
Poultry	25	4.4	1.7	1.9	1.9
Swine	9	5.2	1.5	3.2	2.0
Beef	12	2.0	0.4	1.2	1.1
Dairy	14	2.5	0.6	2.4	1.5
Sheep	26	4.4	0.6	3.0	1.7

11. 1 A NT D 17 • , • c 1° cc 1 1002

Particle-size distribution of fresh manure depends on the diet and digestion process of the animal. Particle density increases as waste degradation develops during storage and increased settling of solids occurs in dilute slurries, particularly with wastes containing high ash contents. The relatively higher fibre content in waste from ruminants, higher N content of poultry and swine waste, lower P content in waste from ruminants and higher Ca content of cage layer waste are common illustrations. Depending upon the duration and method of storage, the chemical composition of waste can change considerably during storage. Microbial decomposition of the waste occurs with the partial biodegradation of OM and the transformation of nutrients into a less complex organic and/or inorganic form. Nutrient losses during storage can result from leaching and runoff in open lot systems or from volatilization. In general, pH in waste becomes more acidic in anaerobic pits, whereas, the pH of waste becomes more alkaline in dilute anaerobic lagoons and aerobic treatment systems (Fontenot et al., 1983).

Normally, 75-90% of major nutrients that are fed to livestock pass directly to the animal into the manure. How good these nutrients can be returned to the soil, depends on the way the manure is stored and handled. There can be huge loss (24 - 83%) of NH_4^+ as a result of drying manure and ammonia (NH₃) volatilisation (Fontenot et al., 1983).

Several authors indicated that manure applications enhanced soil properties such as porosity and hydraulic conductivity (Wong et al., 1999), decreased bulk density (Wong et al., 1999; Celik et al., 2004) and decreased heavy metal bioavailability (Walker et al., 2004). They also increased total OM, macro and micro nutrients availability (Wong et al., 1999; Celik et al., 2004) and crop dry weight yields (Wong et al., 1999).

1.1.4.2. Compost

Compost is the product of decomposition of organic substance made by bacteria, fungi and actinomycetes (Ruol and Santon, 2009), with a final formation of new compounds (humo-like and humic substances). The controlled biological decomposition of organic material leads to the production of stabilized products that can be used as fertilizer. Compost can be obtained from different materials, such as wastes from fruit and vegetable processing, winery industry as well as municipal solid waste (MSW), and the wastes from the management of park and urban green areas. The chemical composition of compost is related to the starting material (table 1.3; Wolf and Snyder, 2003); predominance of vegetal fraction leads to a higher C:N ratio compared with a compost obtained mainly from animal manure. According to this characteristic it is possible to define the final use of compost. Organic materials from agro-industry are, for example, potentially organic fertilizers with slow N release rate that allow a complete 'nutrient cycling': the breakdown of organic substances, the release of energy and matter captured by life processes and their use to stimulate the new growth.

Test	Range of analyses
C:N	6:1 - 20:1
pH	5 - 8
Electric Conductivity	0.2 - 2 S/m
Total N	0.5 – 3 %
Р	0.1 - 2.0 %
K	0.2 - 1.0 %
Ca	0.8 – 3.5 %
Mg	0.3 – 0.6 %
S	0.1 - 2.0 %

Table 1.3. Selected chemical characteristics of a compost (Wolf and Snyder, 2003).

Composting is a natural aerobic biological process, during which micro-organisms degrade organic compounds drawing energy for their metabolic activities and producing H_2O , carbon dioxide (CO₂), NH₃, minerals, OM stabilized rich in humus (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008; Sadik et al., 2010) and heat (temperature should be stabilized around 65°C). The purpose of the composting process is to obtain a stable material (not phytotoxic) used as

agricultural fertilizer. The stabilization process lasts around 90 days and at the end of the stabilization process, the initial weight is reduced by more than 50% and O₂ consumption and release are in equilibrium. Composting process is affected by several factors that alter microorganism activity, such as moisture, aeration, temperature, nutrient balance and pH (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008). Moisture is an essential factor for microorganism survival and growth because it influences O₂ availability; several authors indicate diverse optimal ranges that goes from 40 to 70% (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008), with low values decomposition rate slows down, whereas with high moisture content, the time required for compost to stabilize decrease and eventually anaerobic conditions occur (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008). Thermophilic microorganisms that develop in a range between 37 and 70°C predominate in the composting process (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Sadik et al., 2010). Under stable moisture and O₂ conditions, microorganism activity rises with temperature (Wolf and Snyder, 2003). The C:N ratio affects the biological activity rate; values between 20 and 30 are optimal. Higher values decrease the decomposition rate while lower levels result in high degradation rates, with NH₃ losses to the atmosphere (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008; Sadik et al., 2010).

Compost is rich in humo-like substances, with nutrients, high physical properties, hygienically safe and free of viable weed seeds (Sweeten and Auvermann, 2008). The mature compost is dark in color, soft to the touch, with a temperature equal to or slightly greater than that of the external environment. It is important to use in field mature compost because poorly stabilized ones have problems during storage, marketing and use. In storage, immature compost can produce bad odors and develop toxic compounds and it may heat up in pallets during shipment. Continued active decomposition in the soil could reduce O_2 and availability of N in the root zone causing problem to plant growth. Mature compost should have finished the process of composting and should show the minimal negative effects on plant growth. As maturity can not be defined by a single parameter, there are several characteristics that can be taken into consideration for evaluating compost maturity (table 1.4). After the stabilization process, compost can be subjected to refining, crushing, dehydration, etc. in order to make it marketable (Cristoforetti, 1997).

	Very mature	Mature	Immature
Characteristics	Compost with no	Compost with little	Compost with
	decomposition	odor production,	intense odor
	and no potential	limited toxicity and	production and high
	toxicity	minimal impact on	toxicity potential
		soil N	
Method			
O_2 uptake (O_2 hr ⁻¹)	< 0.5	0.5 – 1.5	> 1.5
CO_2 (C hr ⁻¹)	< 2	2-8	> 8
NH ₄ /NO ₃ (N ratio)	< 0.5	0.5 – 3	> 3
Total NH ₃ (ppm N)	< 75	75 - 500	> 500
Seed germination (% of control)	> 90	80-90	< 80

Table 1.4. Possible system and parameters to classify compost maturity (Brinton, 2000).

The technical advisory committee for Italian fertilizers identified three types of compost (Zorzi, 1997):

- **green compost:** product obtained through a process of transformation and stabilization of waste from maintenance of ornamental plants, crop residues and other wastes of plant origin, with the exception of algae and other marine plants;
- mixed compost: a product obtained through a process of transformation and stabilization of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste from waste collection, waste from animals including manure, residues of agro-industrial activities, sewage and sludge, and by the starting materials required for the green compost;
- **peaty compost:** product obtained by mixture of peat (> 30%) with green or mixed compost.

The concern related to compost use in agriculture is the potential increase of soil concentration of nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) and that can be easily leached through the soil profile. In addition, heavy metals such as lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), Cu, Zn, etc., and various persistent organic toxins (Giusquiami et al., 1995), can be added to the soil with low quality compost application. Heavy metal limits have been defined in order to reduce soil pollution even if there are still differences among European countries (table 1.5).

Element	Italy	Germany	France	Spain	USA	Normal soil concentration
Cadmium	1.5	1.5	8	40	39	0.3-0.7
Chromium	100	100	-	750	1200	5-100
Copper	300	100	-	1750	1500	3-20
Lead	140	150	800	1200	300	12-100
Mercury	1.5	1.0	8	25	17	0.05-0.4
Nickel	50	50	200	400	420	4-50
Zinc	500	400	-	4000	2800	14-125

Table 1.5 Heavy metal limits (mg kg⁻¹ D.W.) for European countries and USA and normal concentration ranges for European soils (Brinton, 2000).

Beside heavy metal there are other parameters for compost standards as for example the presence of non-organic matter (glass, plastic and metal) and stones (table 1.6).

Other important factors that should be taken into consideration in order to obtain a high quality product are pesticide, herbicide, weed, and salt content. Moreover, biological parameter (table 1.7) has to be carefully controlled to have safe compost.

Table 1.6 Maximum non-organic particles allowed in compost in various national standards (Brinton, 2000).

Country	Stone (% D.W.)Non-organic matter (D.W.)	
Australia	< 5% of > 5 mm size $< 0.5%$ of > 2 mm fraction	
France	_	Max contamination 20%; < 6% of >5 mm
Tance	-	fraction
Germany	< 5% of > 5 mm size	< 0.5% of > 2 mm fraction
Italy	-	< 3% total
Spain	-	Free of contamination
U.K.	< 5% of > 2 mm size	< 1% of > 2 mm; < 0.5% if plastic

BIOLOGICAL PARAMETER	<u>.</u>
Salmonella	No detect in 25 g
Total enterobacteriaceae	$< 1 x 10^{2} CFU$
Faecal streptococci	$< 1 \text{ x } 10^3 \text{ (MPN g}^{-1}\text{)}$
Nematodes	absent in 50 g t F.W.
Cestodes	absent in 50 g t F.W.

By incorporating recycled OM into the soil, a sequestration of C, that otherwise would follow disposal processes which potentially release CO_2 in the atmosphere, occurs.

In a 9-years-long trial, yearly application of 5 and 10 t ha⁻¹ of compost made of municipal solid wastes, mixed with pruning material, from urban ornamental trees and waste material from agro-industry processes increased soil OM content (from 1.6 to 4.5%), total N, P, K and microbial biomass (Baldi et al., 2010). Similar results were observed by Herencia et al. (2007) in a greenhouse experience after 9-years of vegetal compost fertilization. In addition, several studies have demonstrated that compost application at high rates improved soil physical and chemical properties, such as bulk density, porosity, water holding capacity (Evanylo et al., 2008), microbial biomass C and enzymatic activity (Melero et al., 2007).

1.2. Nitrogen

Nitrogen is considered one of the main factors limiting plant growth. In fact, N is the most important element of plant composition after C, H, and O₂ (Touraine et al., 2001; Boukcim et al., 2006; Lea and Azevedo, 2006). Nitrogen is part of many plant cell components, such as amino acids, proteins, nucleic acids, chlorophyll and growth regulators (Below, 2002; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). In the biosphere N is available as elemental di-nitrogen (N_2) gas, volatile NH₃ and N oxides (NO_x) in the atmosphere; or as organic (amino acids, peptides, etc.) and inorganic N (nitrate and ammonium) in the soil (von Wiren et al., 1997). The required plant-N concentration for optimal growth varies between 2 and 5% of the plant dry weight (Marschner, 1995).

A major part of plant N is acquired from the soil, where NO_3^- and NH_4^+ are the major sources; however, available soil-N supplies are often inadequate in agricultural soil (Novoa and Loomis, 1981; Marschner, 1995; Tischner, 2000; Follett, 2001), as a result, addition of N from chemical fertilizers is usually required to optimize plant growth.

1.2.1. Nitrogen cycle

Nitrogen is present in vast quantities in the atmosphere as N_2 representing 79% of dry air; however, N_2 does not impact environmental quality and directly available N for plant uptake and metabolism (Follett, 2001; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Acquisition of N from the atmosphere requires the breaking of an exceptionally stable triple covalent bound that can be possible through biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) or industrial nitrogen fixation. The BNF is catalysed by the metalloenzyme nitrogenase and consist in the reduction of N_2 to NH₃; there are few living microorganisms, symbiotic and non-symbiotic capable of this process, with those of the genus *Rhizobium spp*. that lives in symbiosis with legumes (Schulten and Schnitzer, 1998; Follet, 2001; Violante, 2005), the most important for agriculture. Industrially, N fixation occurs via the Haber-Bosch process, in which natural gas methane (CH₄) is burned to produce H, which then reacts with N₂ under high temperature and very high pressure. The quantity of N₂ fixated industrially is three or four times lower than BNF, which is about 17.2 x 10⁷ t year⁻¹ (Violante, 2005; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

Nitrogen from microorganism fixation and decomposition of animal and plant residues becomes part of soil N (figure 1.3), which represents only a small fraction of total N on Earth. More than 90% of total soil N is contained in OM, and can be divided into two groups. The first one is composed by small molecules such as amino acids, nucleic acids and amino sugars, which are present in soil solution (dissolved organic N) in just a little quantity. The second group is relatively stable and not directly available for plants because the N is associated to larger, insoluble molecules or complexes. The availability of N from organic source depends mainly on the mineralization process, which is defined as the production of NH_4^+ from organic N (Follett, 2001; Myrold and Bottomley, 2008).



Figure 1.3 Nitrogen cycle in the soil-plant-atmosphere system. (Adapted from Violante, 2005).

Mineralization is a very slow process, mediated by heterotrophic microorganisms, which break down organic monomers and release NH_4^+ . This process is affected by soil conditions, such as moisture and temperature; and also by C:N ratio (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Agehara and Warncke, 2005; Myrold and Bottomley, 2008). Soil moisture regulates O₂ in soil and maximizes aerobic microbial activity with 50 to 70% of water holding capacity, therefore increasing mineralization rate. Cool soil temperatures inhibit N release from the soil OM (Wolf and Snyder, 2003; Agehara and Warncke, 2005). Low C:N substrate ratios (about 25:1) enhances NH₃ release; in contrast, greater C:N ratios are associated with immobilization of NH₄⁺, process by which inorganic N is incorporated in organic forms (Sims, 1995; Schulten and Schnitzer, 1998; Myrold and Bottomley, 2008). Moreover, plant roots play an indirect role in N mineralization process by releasing root exudates which are potential sources of C and N of the rhizosphere, and by altering soil structure or water availability (Myrold and Bottomley, 2008).

The NH_4^+ released by mineralization process is oxidized to NO_3^- , using nitrite (NO_2^-) as an intermediate form, by a process called nitrification (Follet, 2001). This process is mediated by *Nitrosomonas sp.* and *Nitrobacter sp.* bacteria, the first transforms NH_4^+ to NO_2^- , and the second one converts NO_2^- to NO_3^- (Postgate, 1998). Several microorganisms uses NO_3^- and NO_2^- as O_2 source, transforming them in either N_2 , nitrous oxide (N_2O), nitric oxide (NO) or other gaseous N oxide compounds through the denitrification process (Follet, 2001; Violante, 2005; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

1.2.2. Plant N nutrition and N accumulation in plants

Under agricultural soil conditions, NO_3^- is more abundant than NH_4^+ which is quickly oxidized by nitrifying bacteria; in fact NO_3^- can reach levels between 0.5 and 10 mM, while NH_4^+ concentration is 10 to 1000 times lower (Marschner, 1995; Daniel-Vedele et al., 1998; Yamaya and Oaks, 2004).

The availability of the different form of N for root uptake influences several plant physiological processes including N-assimilation, cation-anion balance, water relations, photosynthesis and secondary metabolism (Roosta et al., 2009). Preferential uptake of one or other forms depends on the species and environmental conditions (Marschner, 1995). Plants adapted to low soil redox potential, acid and wet soils have a preference for NH_4^+ ions, in contrast, plant that grows in high pH soils, use NO_3^- (Marschner, 1995; Bloom et al., 2003; Larcher, 2003). Ammonium is assimilated in the root, using C skeletons, thus reducing sugar content in roots; in contrast NO_3^- can be stored in plants without being assimilated in the roots (Marschner, 1995). In addition, NH_4^+ assimilation produces a strong rhizosphere acidification that retards plant growth by the release of one proton (H⁺) per NH_4^+ taken up; whereas $NO_3^$ induces an increase in pH that might have negative effects on mineral nutrient acquisition and also on availability within the plants (Marschner, 1995).

In addition, the external concentration of both inorganic N forms influences plant growth and root uptake. At low concentrations, small differences between NO_3^- and NH_4^+ occur; however, when external concentration rise, NO_3^- is the most important source as NH_4^+ detrimentally affects plant growth (Marschner, 1995). It has been demonstrated that the contemporary availability of both NO_3^- and NH_4^+ -N for root uptake increases growth and crop productivity, because it is easier for the plant to regulate intracellular pH and also absorption and assimilation energy cost are reduced (Marschner, 1995; Below, 2002). Furthermore, the two forms of N have different soil mobility (Below, 2002), NH_4^+ is fixed to negative charged soil particles becoming relatively immobile; in contrast, soil particles repel

 NO_3^- making it particularly mobile, hence it moves about 10 times faster than NH_4^+ . Thus, high levels of NO_3^- in soils are unusually maintained, because plant absorption, soil leachings and microbial denitrification deplete soil nitrate (Crawford and Glass, 1998; Below, 2002; Jackson et al., 2008).

1.2.2.1. Nitrogen uptake

Plants acquire N from the soil mainly in the form of NH_4^+ and NO_3^- , but the spatial and temporal availability of these ions is highly heterogeneous (Bloom et al., 2003). Nitrogen absorption depends on the root system development (soil colonization) and N uptake capacity of the root (Bahrman et al., 2005). Uptake of inorganic N involves the movement across the plasma membrane, transport or storage within the plant, and finally assimilation into organic compounds (Below, 2002).

Nitrate uptake is an energy dependent process that consumes 1 to 3 moles of ATP per mole of NO_3^- taken. Its net absorption is the balance between apoplasm to cytoplasm influx and efflux in the reverse direction; with the latter being passive and increasing with decreasing of external NO_3^- concentration (Crawford and Glass, 1998; Daniel-Vedele et al., 1998; Touraine, 2004). Nitrate uptake occurs throughout the root surface, mainly in the sub-apical region, even though older root zones should contribute with an important part of total NO_3^- acquisition due their large size compared with the actively growing roots (Touraine, 2004; Baldi et al., 2010). In contrast NH_4^+ uptake does not require metabolic energy (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Glass, 2003).

Two kinetically distinct types of transport systems that co-exist in the plasma membrane of root cells have been identified for NO_3^- influx. The first one, called low affinity transport system (LATS) generally found in older root, is active at high external NO_3^- concentrations (>0.5 mM) with no saturation up to 50 mM. The second one, located close to the root tip, works at low external concentrations (<0.5 mM) and is referred as the high affinity transport system (HATS). Two different HATS have been suggested, one constitutive (cHATS) and the other one is induced (iHATS) by nitrate and nitrite (Tischner, 2000; Touraine et al., 2001; Glass, 2003; Touraine, 2004). High affinity transport system and LATS also exist for NH_4^+ (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Glass, 2003).

Nitrogen uptake can be influenced by internal factors, such as N and carbohydrate concentration, and by external factors, such as NO_3^- and NH_4^+ soil concentrations, temperature, O_2 levels, and rhizosphere pH. Plant species and developmental stage can also influence N uptake (Below, 2002). Ammonium uptake does not appear to be influenced by

 NO_3^- , however NH_4^+ induces inhibition of NO_3^- uptake; in fact several studies have demonstrated that the presence of NH_4^+ in the growing media reduces NO_3^- influx into roots (Glass, 2003). Carbohydrate in the phloem sap may regulate NO_3^- uptake as demonstrated by a decline in NO_3^- uptake after blocking phloem translocation through stem girdling (Imsande and Touraine, 1994; Touraine et al., 2001). Low temperatures reduce plant demand for N, and generally increase availability of NH_4^+ , because nitrification process is more sensible to low temperatures than ammonification (von Wiren et al., 1997; Glass, 2003). Soil pH plays an important role on N uptake with NH_4^+ uptake enhanced by neutral conditions and limited at low pH. Uptake of NO_3^- is faster at pH around 4-5 and is reduced at higher pH (Violante, 2005). Additionally, it has been suggested that plants absorb NH_4^+ faster than NO_3^- during early vegetative growth, whereas the opposite situation occurs as growth progresses and more NO_3^- is absorbed than NH_4^+ , possibly due to the presence of incomplete functional systems for NO_3^- uptake and assimilation in young plants (Below, 2002).

1.2.2.2. Nitrogen assimilation

Nitrogen must be assimilated into organic forms to be used by plant. Ammonium ion is quickly assimilated in the roots because is toxic to plant tissues at relatively low levels, and translocated as organic compounds. In contrast, symplastic NO_3^- within roots can follow 4 destinations: 1) reduction to NH_4^+ ; 2) return efflux across the plasma membrane to the apoplasm; 3) storage in the vacuoles of root cells or 4) long distance transport through the xylem, to be stored or reduced elsewhere (Crawford and Glass, 1998; Below, 2002).

The reduction of NO_3^- to NH_4^+ can occur either in the root or in the shoot. It consists in two steps, the reduction of NO_3^- to NO_2^- through the enzyme nitrate reductase (NR) and the reduction NO_2^- in NH_4^+ by the enzyme nitrite reductase (NiR), figure 1.4 (Marschner, 1995). Nitrate reductase, considered the rate limiting step in the reaction, is located in the cytosol and uses electrons from NADH and/or NADPH to reduce NO_3^- (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Below, 2002; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). Nitrite reductase, located in leaf chloroplast and root proplastid, oxidizes a reduced ferrodoxin (Fd) for the reaction; reduced Fd is derived from the photosynthetic electron transport (photosystem I) in leaves, and from NADPH generated by the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway in roots (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010).



Figure 1.4 Schematic presentation of the pathway of NO_3^- reduction in root and leaf cells; NR = nitrate reductase, NiR = nitrite reductase, OPPP = oxidative pentose phosphate pathway, PS I = photosystem I. Adapted from Engels and Marschner, 1995.

The magnitude of NO_3^- reduction carried out in roots and shoots depends on the level of NO_3^- supply and on plant species. In general, with high external NO_3^- supply, a large quantity of the total N is translocated as NO_3^- to the leaves; in contrast, when NO_3^- supply is low, the most part of the NO_3^- is reduced in roots (Marschner, 1995). Herbaceous plants and temperate deciduous trees such as peach reduce large proportion of the NO_3^- in the roots, when external concentrations is not much higher than 1 mM (Marschner, 1995).

Ammonium is assimilated into essential amino acids by glutamate synthase cycles (figure 1.5), which consists in two successive reactions catalyzed by glutamine synthetase (GS) and glutamate synthase (GOGAT). In this system, NH_4^+ is transformed into glutamine via GS using one ATP and a divalent cation as a cofactor. Glutamine synthetase can be located in cytoplasm, root plastids and leaf chloroplasts. In root plastids, GS generates amide for local consumption and in leaf GS re-assimilates NH_4^+ produced by photorespiratory process (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). The amide group from glutamine is then transferred to 2-oxoglutarate by GOGAT, and can be located in root plastids

and leaf vascular bundles. The root-GOGAT accepts electrons from NADH whereas leaf-GOGAT accepts electrons from ferredoxin (Below, 2002; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010; Lea and Miflin, 2011). Also, NH_4^+ can be assimilated by an alternative and reversible way, which is catalyzed by glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) and combines 2-oxoglutarate with NH_4^+ . This reaction can be NADH-dependent when occurs in mitochondria or NADPH-dependent if it is localized in the chloroplasts of photosynthetic organs (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010).



Figure 1.5 Schematic presentation of NH_4^+ assimilation; GS = glutamine synthetase, GOGAT = glutamate synthase, TCA = tricarboxylic acid cycle (Engels and Marschner, 1995; Below, 2002).

1.2.3. Nitrogen environmental impact

Human activities, fertilizer applications and fossil fuel combustion, have increase twofold the amount of N in terrestrial ecosystems since the early 20^{th} century (Hall and Matson, 1999; Wang et al., 2009). This increase of N input has resulted in substantial N pollution and ecological damage (Kramer et al., 2006). In agricultural systems, N fertilizers are the center of a sharp conflict between the need of maintain the food supply and the need of protect the environment (Sims, 1995). Nowadays, N fertilizer use is higher than 100 million t per year; however only 15% to 50% of total N supply is absorbed by fruit trees and extensive crops, respectively (Sanchez et al., 1995; Galloway et al., 2004; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Nitrogen losses from the ecosystems is mainly as inorganic forms through soil leaching, denitrification to N₂, volatilization NH₃ and fluxes of N₂O and NO_x to the atmosphere (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

1.2.3.1. Leaching N

Nitrogen losses by leaching generally are, NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻, that is quantitatively the most important, because its high solubility and mobility in the soil. In general, leaching of NO_3^{-1} is caused by any descending movement of water through the soil profile and the magnitude of the leakage is positively correlated with soil NO₃-N concentration and the volume of leaching water (Sims, 1995; Kramer et al., 2006). Agriculture systems are considered as the most important anthropogenic source of NO_3^- to aquifers and groundwater (Burkart and Stoner, 2001). In fact, it has been observed that agricultural areas often exhibit seasonal concentrations greater than 10 mg NO₃⁻-N L⁻¹, whereas in natural background levels commonly $NO_3^{-}N$ is less than 2 mg L⁻¹ (Keeney and Hatfield, 2001). The high nitrate levels in drinking water and food may increase the risk of methaemoglobinaemia, that is particularly high for babies (Sims, 1995; Keeney and Hatfield, 2001), and increase the occurrence of stomach cancer (Forman et al., 1985; O'Riordan and Bentham, 1993). On the other hand, excess of NO_3^- can contribute to the eutrophication (excess of nutrients availability) of natural water systems, hence, enhances growth of aquatic organism, with an increase of turbidity and a reduction of dissolved O₂, that affect the metabolism and growth of aerobic species, causing a condition referred to as hypoxia (Sims, 1995; Follett, 2001; Keeney and Hatfield, 2001; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

1.2.3.2. Ammonia volatilization

Ammonia plays a relatively positive role in atmospheric chemistry because it serves to neutralize about 30% of the H⁺ ions in the atmosphere, and in general is deposited as NH_3^+ , or as NH_4^+ in rainwater or aerosols (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Among the global NH_3^+ emissions to the atmosphere, about 65% is emitted from agricultural systems, through volatilization process (Mosier, 2001). Ammonia volatilization refers to the loss of NH_3^+ from the soil to the atmosphere, and is considered the second major pathway by which N is lost from agriculture system (Sims, 1995; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Volatilization is influenced by NH_4^+ concentration in soil solution and soil pH; most losses occur when NH_4^+ is abundant and pH increases (Follett, 2001; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). In general, NH_3^+ volatilization increases when: soil CEC is low, soil temperature increase, urea is used as fertilizer and high N organic wastes are decomposed on the soil surface. Volatilization decreases in the presence of growing plants (Follett, 2001).

1.2.3.3. Denitrification

Denitrification is the reduction of NO_3^- to gaseous form of N. The general sequence is as follows:

 $NO_3^- \longrightarrow NO_2^- \longrightarrow NO \longrightarrow N_2O \longrightarrow N_2$

This sequence is catalyzed by chemoautotrophic bacterial, which normally are aerobic, but under anaerobic conditions they can use reduced N oxides as electron acceptors in alternative to O_2 (Peoples et al., 1995; Sims, 1995).

Around 0.5% of fertilizer-N applied to agriculture systems is emitted to the atmosphere as NO (Mosier, 2001). Nitric oxides (NO_x), released mainly as nitric oxide (NO), plays an important role in troposphere chemistry; reacts with atmospheric oxidants such as ozone (O₃), hydroxyl radicals (OH) during oxidation of carbon monoxide (CO), CH₄, and non-methane hydrocarbons (Hall and Matson, 1999; Mosier, 2001). Elevated NO_x concentration lead to the production of O₃, due to the oxidation of atmospheric hydrocarbons such as CO. In contrast when the concentration is low, O₃ is destructed reducing the ability of the stratosphere as a barrier to ultraviolet radiation (Sims, 1995; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Additionally, hydroxyl radical in the atmosphere are involved in the removal of greenhouse gases, thereby NO_x contribute indirectly in atmospheric warming (Peoples et al., 1995).

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is a powerful greenhouse gas, 300 times more active than CO_2 , that in the troposphere absorbs thermal radiation and has a long residence time in the atmosphere (Kramer et al., 2006; Bronson, 2008; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Nitrous oxide is not one of the most abundant greenhouse gas, nevertheless, its emission rise with an increase of N availability, playing a considerable role in the agricultural contribution to climate change (Kramer et al., 2006; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). In fact, according to the Group on Agriculture of the European Climate Change Programme, almost 51% of the total N₂O emissions come from agricultural activities (Favoino and Hogg, 2007).

1.2.4. Negative effect of N on plant growth

Nitrogen availability affects the biomass production and plant productivity (Bloom et al., 1993). Increasing of both NO_3^--N and NH_4^+-N supplies, stimulate roots biomass, and increase significantly the branching of axial root and the elongation of lateral roots (Boukcim et al., 2006). Baldi et al. (2010) observed a positive correlation between NO_3^--N concentration and the median peach root lifespan. However, many reports indicate a possible negative effect of high mineral N soil concentrations on root development. In fact, different studies found

that high NO₃⁻-N concentrations had a strong inhibitory effect on roots elongation of tomatoes (Bloom et al., 1993), *Arabidopsis* (Zhang et al., 1999) and maize (Tian et al., 2008). Scheible et al. (1997) observed a negative correlation between high levels of leaf NO₃⁻-N and total root growth that were associated with inhibition of starch synthesis and turnover in the leaves and decreased transport of sucrose to the roots. Also, several authors indicated that high soil mineral N concentration might affect negatively root lifespan due to an increase of root metabolic activity (Tjoelker et al., 2005; Withington et al., 2006) that could increases production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide radicals (O₂⁻), singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and hydroxyl radical (OH⁺), which are capable of unrestricted oxidation of various cellular components (Mittler, 2002; Misra and Gupta, 2006; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010).

1.3. Aim of the thesis

In the last years, composted organic materials from agri-food industry and municipal solid waste have been used as a sustainable source to replace chemical fertilizers and increase soil OM. Nevertheless, the influence of them on soil fertility and plant growth are poorly understood. Continuous application of compost can potentially affect NO_3^- -N concentration and/or induce toxic effect to root. Among the few reports available on the effects of organic fertilizer species root growth of woody species, Baldi et al. 2010 observed that the use of compost in peach fruit management increases root proliferation and lifespan. This response can have negative implication on tree C partitioning; in fact if the higher root growth is accompanied by a decrease in above ground C investment, a lower fruit production might be expected.

The aims of the present study were to evaluate the effects of organic and mineral N fertilizer on: 1) CO_2 fixation, tree development and C partition to the different organs of peach trees; 2) soil N concentration and NO_3 -N effect on root and shoot growth and root oxidative stress; and 3) soil chemical and biological fertility, tree growth and yield and fruit quality in a commercial orchard.

For this purpose, three trials were conducted:

- Carbon assimilation and partitioning in potted peach trees;
- Root oxidative stress, root morphology and growth of micro propagated plant of fertilized with increasing rate of soil applied, mineral or organic N;

- Assessment of the sustainability of annual compost fertilization as an alternative of mineral fertilizer in a commercial orchard.

2. EFFECT OF ORGANIC FERTILIZATION ON GROWTH AND CARBON PARTITIONING OF PEACH TREES.

2.1. Materials and methods

2.1.1. Plant materials and treatments

The experiment was carried out in 2009 at the experimental station of the University of Bologna, in Cadriano (44° 35' N, 11° 27' E) on 28 two-years-old peach trees (*Prunus persica* L. Batsch) cv. 'Orion', grafted on GF 677 rootstock (*Prunus persica* x *Prunus amygdalus*). Plants (figure 2.1 A) were potted in May 2008 in 40 liter containers filled with a clay loam Bathicalci Eutric Cambisols soil (FAO, 1990) and sand at rate of 3:1; and were fertilized as in a complete randomized block design (with seven replicates) as follows:

- mineral, fertilized in April 2009 with mineral 0.357 g of N pot⁻¹, 0.238 g of P pot⁻¹ and 0.952 g of K pot⁻¹ as granular fertilizer labeled as 15-10-40 (mineral control);
- cow manure, at a rate of 800 g DW pot⁻¹ (cow manure);
- compost at a rate of 800 g DW pot⁻¹ (compost 800);
- compost at a rate of 2400 g DW pot⁻¹ (compost 2400).

Organic fertilizers were mixed with the soil before potting. Cow manure (table 2.1) was cow stable dung and wheat straw bedding, after 3 month stabilization, and provided by a local livestock farm. Compost (table 2.2) was obtained from domestic organic wastes (50%) mixed with pruning material from urban ornamental trees and garden management (50%) after 3 month stabilization. During the experiment trees, were grown outside, under a shelter net that reduced photosynthetic active radiation (PAR) by 30%, to protect from hail storm, and were watered daily by drip emitters.

Characteristic	Value
Dry matter (%)	28.5
Total N (%)	2.75
Total P (%)	1.96
Total K (%)	2.38
Total organic C (mg kg ⁻¹)	37.4
C.E.C. (meq 100 g^{-1} D.W.)	66.6
Humic and fulvic acids (%)	11.24
Humic and fulvic acids (%)	11.24

 Table 2.1 Selected chemical characteristics of cow manure used in the experiment.

 Table 2.2 Selected chemical characteristics of compost used in the experiment.

Characteristic	Unit	Value
рН		8.2
Conductivity	dS/m	1.21
Humidity	% m/m	31.8
Ashes	% D.W.	50.1
Organic matter	% D.W.	49.9
Total – N	% N D.W.	1.75
Cadmium	mg/kg D.W.	0.7
Chrome VI	mg/kg D.W.	< 0.50
Mercury	mg/kg D.W.	< 1.0
Nickel	mg/kg D.W.	23.5
Lead	mg/kg D.W.	50.4
Cooper	mg/kg D.W.	85.6
Zinc	mg/kg D.W.	177
Plastic materials < 10 mm	% D.W.	absent
Plastic materials > 10 mm	% D.W.	absent
Other inert materials <10 mm	% D.W.	absent
Other inert materials >10 mm	% D.W.	absent
Salmonella	MPN/g	absent

2.1.2. ¹³C plant enrichment and partitioning

In May 2009, tree canopies were enclosed in a transparent plastic chamber (figure 2.1 F) in order to label plants with ¹³C enriched CO_2 (¹³CO₂). Before the enrichment, each pot was enclosed in a plastic bag to avoid soil and roots contamination with ¹³C (figure 2.1.B).

The plastic chamber, 10 m long, 4 m width and 2 m high was made of a high-density polypropylene sheet with a PAR reduction of 10%. Temperature was controlled by placing inside the chamber almost 30 kg of ice along with two fans, set at the opposite side of the chamber, in order to make air circulation and avoid any temperature gradients. An infrared gas analyzer (EGM – 4; PP system, Hitchin, UK) was used to monitor CO_2 evolution inside the chamber.

The ¹³CO₂ pulse was carried out inside the chamber by dissolving 20 g of barium carbonate (Ba¹³CO₃ -99 atom %, Sigma) in 350 ml of 85% lactic acid to produce 101.5 mM of ¹³CO₂. The trees remained inside the chamber for about 90' until the CO₂ concentration was constantly < 200 ppm, indicating the absence of leaf net fixation. During the time course of the pulse, the temperature ranged between 30 °C and 36 °C.

Before ¹³C feeding, 4 plants (one per treatment) were harvested to evaluate natural ¹³C abundance of the different organs (leaves, shoots, fruits, wood and roots). Immediately (T0) and 7 days (T7) after the ¹³CO₂ pulse, six leaves per tree were collected for isotopic ratio determination. Nineteen days after the pulse (T19) and at the end of plant growth (T185), 3 trees per treatment were harvested and separated into different organs. At T19 trees were divided in leaves, shoots, shoot apexes (portion with no fully expanded leaves), whole fruits, wood and roots. At T185, trees were separated in fallen leaves, twigs (lignified shoot), whole fruits (harvested at maturation in august) wood and roots. All plant material was oven-dried at 60°C for 96 hours, weighed and ground to a fine powder. Carbon concentration and ¹³C enrichment were determined by an elemental analyzer (EA 1110, Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy) instrument coupled with a Finningan Delta plus (Bremen, Germany) mass spectrometer. The ¹³C enrichment was calculated according to Wu et al. (2009) as follows:

$\delta^{13}C$ (‰) = [($R_{sample} / R_{standard}$) - 1] x 1000	Eq. (1)
$R_{sample} = {}^{13}C/{}^{12}C = [(\delta^{13}C/1000) + 1] \times R_{standard}$	Eq. (2)
$F = {}^{13}C/({}^{13}C + {}^{12}C) = R/(R+1)$	Eq. (3)
Atom % excess = $(F_{labeled} - F_{unlabeled}) \times 100$	Eq. (4)
New ^{13}C content = (Atom % excess/ 100) x dry mass x [C]	Eq. (5)

Relative Partitioning (%) = $(New^{13}C \text{ content in the organ}) \times 100$ Eq. (6) (New ¹³C in all the sampled organs)

where the δ^{13} C (‰) value is calculated from the measured C isotope ratios of the sample and standard reference material (Eq. 1). The absolute ratio (R) of a sample is determined by Eq. 2, where R_{standard} (Vienna PeeDee Belemnite (PDB) carbonate) is 0.0112372. Atom % excess is an index to determine the enrichment level of a sample (Eq. 3 and 4). The new ¹³C content is determined in the different organs according to dry matter and C concentration (Eq. 5). The partitioning of new ¹³C in the plants is expressed as a percentage of the ¹³C in the organ divided by total ¹³C in the plant (Eq. 6).

The amount of C found in the leaves, immediately after ${}^{13}\text{CO}_2$ pulse (T0), was considered the only one in the tree (no mobilization to other organs occurred yet). The total amount of labeled C fixed by tree with the ${}^{13}\text{CO}_2$ pulse was consequently obtained by multiplying the values of the single leaf by the total leaf biomass measured at T19.

2.1.3. Canopy analysis

On 27 May and 15 June 2009, CO_2 assimilation rate was measured in the morning (from 9 to 11 a.m.) on two healthy, fully expanded and well exposed leaves per tree with an infrared gas analyzer (ADC- LCA2, Hoddenson, Herts, UK). On the same day, leaf chlorophyll was measured by the portable SPAD 502 (Minolta, Co. Ltda, Ramsey, NJ, USA) on 25 young, healthy and fully expanded leaves per tree.

2.1.4. Soil analysis

At each plant harvest, soil samples were taken to evaluate NO_3^- -N and ammonium NH_4^+ -N concentration, and microbial biomass C. Nitrate-N and NH_4^+ -N were extracted from 10 g fresh weight (FW) of sieved (2 mm) soil in 100 ml of 2M KCl solution and shaken at 90 rpm for 1 h. After soil sedimentation, the supernatant was collected and stored at -20°C until analysis (Auto Analyzer AA-3, BRAN + LUEBBE, Norderstadt, Germany). Microbial biomass C was measured using the substrate induced respiration (SIR) method (Anderson and Domsch, 1978). Fifty grams of fresh soil were sieved (diameter of 2 mm), placed in 500 ml glass jars and equilibrated at room temperature for at least 24 h. The samples were then mixed with 200 mg of glucose and incubated at 22°C for 3 h. CO₂ evolution was measured by an infrared gas analyzer (EGM-4; PP system; Hitchin, UK); CO₂ data were converted into microbial C according to Anderson and Domsch (1978).



Figure 2.1 a) Peach trees of cv. 'Orion'/GF 677 used in the experiment; b) pots enclosed in black plastic bags to avoid direct contamination of roots and soil with ¹³C; c) plant growth after (left to right): compost 2400, compost 800 and mineral fertilizer application; d) fan positioned inside the plastic chamber; e) ice bags used to avoid excessive increase of temperature inside the chamber; f) infrared gas analyzer for monitoring CO₂ evolution inside the chamber.

2.1.5. Statistical analysis

At each sampling time, data were statistically analyzed as in a factorial experimental design with 2 factors: soil fertilization (4 levels: mineral control, cow manure, compost 800 and compost 2400) and tissues (6 or 5 levels according to the sampling time). When analysis of variance showed an effect of treatment statistically significant ($P \le 0.05$), means were separated by Student Newman-Keuls (SNK) test; when interaction between factors was significant, 3 times standard error of means (MSE) was used as the minimum difference between two means statistically different for $P \le 0.05$ (Saville and Rowarth, 2008).

2.2. Results

2.2.1. Biomass production

At T19 and T185, compost 2400 treated trees showed the highest plant biomass as compared with the other treatments, while cow manure and compost 800 did not affect tree growth compared to mineral fertilization (figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Effect of fertilization treatment on whole tree weight as measured 19 and 185 days after ¹³C pulse. **: effect significant at $P \le 0.01$. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

In both dates, treatment and plant organ significantly interacted with organ weight. At T19, compost 2400 treated plants exhibited a higher leaf, wood and root biomass (table 2.3) than the other treatments. Cow manure induced a wood biomass lower than compost 2400, similar to compost 800 and higher than mineral control. Root biomass of compost 800 and
cow manure treated trees were similar each other and both were higher than mineral control plants (table 2.3). At T185, no significant differences between treatments were observed in weight of fallen leaves and twigs (table 2.4). Compared to mineral fertilized control, no effect of treatment on fruit weight was observed, however fruits from cow manure fertilized trees were smaller than those treated with compost 800 and 2400 (table 2.4). Wood biomass was increased by organic fertilization as compared with mineral control, while root biomass of compost 2400 treated plants was higher compared to the other treatments. Unlike cow manure, compost 800 induced a higher root development than mineral control (table 2.4).

days alter CO2 puls	<i></i>					
Treatment	Leaves	Shoot apex	Shoots	Fruits	Wood	Roots
Mineral	18.4	3.00	4.11	11.4	43.9	83.6
Cow manure	31.2	3.25	4.00	9.05	88.8	134
Compost 800	31.7	3.76	4.13	10.5	72.6	128
Compost 2400	53.2	3.31	7.62	28.4	118	203
Interaction			*** (3 SEN	<i>I</i> = 29)		

Table 2.3 Effect of fertilization treatment and organ sample on organ biomass (g DW) 19 days after ${}^{13}CO_2$ pulse.

*** Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.001$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

Table 2.4 Effect of fertilization	treatment and	organ sample	on organ	biomass (g	g DW)	185
days after ¹³ CO ₂ pulse.						

Treatment	Fallen leaves	Twigs	Fruits	Wood	Roots			
Mineral	16.3	10.3	42.9	74.0	121			
Cow manure	20.4	9.38	17.9	113	153			
Compost 800	25.5	9.00	72.6	121.4	162			
Compost 2400	42.4	23.0	67.1	145	228			
Interaction	*(3 SEM = 36)							

* Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.05$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

2.2.2. Leaf ¹³C partitioning

There was no treatment effect on ¹³C content in single leaf immediately after the pulse (T0); however, seven days (T7) after the ¹³C enrichment, mineral fertilized plants had a higher amount of labeled C per leaf, than organic-fertilized plants (figure 2.3). From T0 to T7 leaf ¹³C decreased in all treatments, in detail in compost 2400 treated trees it decreased of about 77%, in cow manure of around 75%, in compost 800 of about 74%, and in mineral treated plants of about 58% (figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Effect of fertilization treatment on 13C content in the single leaf, immediately (1 hour) and 168 (7 days) hours after 13C pulse. n.s., **: effect not significant or significant at P \leq 0.01, respectively. 1Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at P \leq 0.05).

2.2.3. Organ C concentrations and ¹³C content

Nineteen days after 13C labeling (T19), root C concentration was higher in cow manure treated plants, followed by mineral control and compost 800 and 2400 (table 2.5). No significant differences were induced by treatments on C concentration of other organs (table 2.5). At T185, C concentration in fallen leaves was not affected by treatment; the application of compost at high rate decreased twigs C concentration, if compared to the other treatments. Fruit C was increased by application of compost 800 followed by compost 2400, mineral

control and cow manure. Wood and root C concentration was enhanced by application of organic fertilizer (table 2.6).

Table 2.5 Effect of fertilization treatment on carbon concentration (%) in different organs of peach tree at 19 days after ¹³C pulse.

Treatment	Leaves	Shoot apex	Shoots	Fruits	Wood	Roots		
Mineral	45.8	44.0	42.4	40.3	44.0	44.0		
Cow manure	45.3	44.3	41.0	40.3	44.6	46.4		
Compost 800	45.3	42.6	41.3	41.8	43.9	40.8		
Compost 2400	44.2	43.5	41.8	41.8	44.6	41.4		
Interaction	* (3 SEM = 2.5)							

* Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.05$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

Table 2.6 Effect of fertilization treatment on carbon concentration (%) in different organs of peach tree in December, 185 days after ¹³C pulse.

Treatment	Fallen leaves	Twigs	Fruits	Wood	Roots			
Mineral	43.8	48.2	40.3	46.3	35.8			
Cow manure	43.5	46.8	39.5	49.7	41.3			
Compost 800	43.0	48.2	45.2	49.8	43.6			
Compost 2400	44.5	43.0	42.6	49.9	42.7			
Interaction	*** (3 SEM = 3.1)							

*** Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.001$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

The ¹³C enrichment found in the different tree organs decreased with time (table 2.7 and 2.8). At T19, mineral fertilized plants showed the highest ¹³C enrichment in leaves, followed by compost 800 and cow manure treated trees; compost 2400 had the lowest values (table 2.7). Cow manure induced a significantly higher ¹³C enrichment in shoot apex than mineral and compost 800 plants, but similar to compost 2400 treated plants; no significant differences were found for the other tissues (table 2.7).

Treatment	Leaves	Shoot apex	Shoots	Fruits	Wood	Roots	
Mineral	0.378	0.116	0.225	0.120	0.025	0.027	
Cow manure	0.201	0.283	0.143	0.159	0.035	0.043	
Compost 800	0.269	0.177	0.182	0.176	0.043	0.037	
Compost 2400	0.128	0.222	0.148	0.174	0.045	0.044	
Interaction	** (3 SEM = 0.10)						

Table 2.7 Effect of fertilization treatment on ¹³C enrichment (‰) in leaves, shoot apex, shoots, fruits, wood and roots of peach trees 19 days after ¹³C pulse.

** Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.01$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

At T185, compared with the other treatments, cow manure treated plants exhibited the higher ¹³C enrichment in fallen leaves, while the other treatments had similar values. In twigs, the highest ¹³C enrichment was found in mineral control and cow manure treated plants, while compost 800 and compost 2400 had the lowest content. Fruits of compost treated trees presented higher ¹³C enrichment than cow manure and mineral control plants (table 2.8). Compost 2400 treated plants had the highest ¹³C enrichment in wood and roots, followed by compost 800 and cow manure (that showed similar values) and mineral treated trees that had the lowest ¹³C enrichment (table 2.8).

Table 2.8	Effect	of	fertilization	treatment	on	^{13}C	enrichment	(‰),	185	days	after	pulse
(December) in leav	es,	twigs, fruits	, wood and	l roc	ots of	f peach trees.					

, , ,		1			
Fallen leaves	Twigs	Fruits	Wood	Roots	
0.112	0.114	0.035	0.019	0.014	
0.132	0.094	0.039	0.030	0.031	
0.118	0.085	0.060	0.025	0.032	
0.112	0.068	0.064	0.041	0.043	
	**:	*(3 SEM = 0.	02)		
	Fallen leaves 0.112 0.132 0.118 0.112	Fallen leaves Twigs 0.112 0.114 0.132 0.094 0.118 0.085 0.112 0.068	Fallen leavesTwigsFruits 0.112 0.114 0.035 0.132 0.094 0.039 0.118 0.085 0.060 0.112 0.068 0.064 *** (3 SEM = 0.061)	Fallen leavesTwigsFruitsWood 0.112 0.114 0.035 0.019 0.132 0.094 0.039 0.030 0.118 0.085 0.060 0.025 0.112 0.068 0.064 0.041 *** (3 SEM = 0.02)	Fallen leavesTwigsFruitsWoodRoots 0.112 0.114 0.035 0.019 0.014 0.132 0.094 0.039 0.030 0.031 0.118 0.085 0.060 0.025 0.032 0.112 0.068 0.064 0.041 0.043 *** (3 SEM = 0.02)

*** Interaction between treatment and tissue significant at $P \leq 0.001$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

Immediately after the pulse, total assimilated ¹³C was higher in compost 2400 treated trees compared to the other treatments, and then it decreases in all treatment with time (figure

2.4). At T185, between 26% to 43% of the total assimilated 13 C was found in the plants, with compost 2400 treated plants retaining the most 13 C, followed by cow manure, compost 800 and mineral treated plants (figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4 Effect of the fertilization treatment on total ¹³C fixed and found in the plant during the time course of the experiment. *, ***: effect significant at $P \le 0.05$ and $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

2.2.4. Relative ¹³C partitioning

At T19, compost 2400 treated trees partitioned a higher amount of C to fruits as compared with the other treatments (figure 2.5). Mineral control plants presented 54% of the total fixed ¹³C in the leaves, compost 800 and cow manure treated plant had 40% and 35% respectively, and compost 2400 plants showed the lowest percentage (25%). No significant differences were observed among treatments on shoot apex and total shoot percentage of labeled C partitioning. Cow manure and both compost treatments promoted a higher partitioning of C to the wood and roots than mineral fertilized trees (figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5 Effect of the fertilization treatment on relative partitioning of fixed ¹³C 19 days after ¹³C pulse. Bars indicate \pm standard error. *** Interaction between treatment and organ significant at *P*≤0.001. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

At the second harvest, compost 800 treated plants showed the highest percentage of ¹³C in fruits, mineral and compost 2400 plants were intermediate, and cow manure had the lowest effect (figure 2.6). At T185, application of compost 2400 induced the lowest percentage of ¹³C in fallen leaves; in contrast mineral fertilization promoted the highest percentage of ¹³C. Mineral treated plants showed a higher ¹³C percentage in lignified shoots than organic-fertilized plants. Cow manure, compost 2400 and compost 800 treated trees had higher percentage of ¹³C in roots than mineral control. Percentage of ¹³C in wood was higher in cow manure than the other treatments (figure 2.6).



Figure 2.6 Effect of fertilization treatments on relative partitioning of labeled C to the different tree organs, at the end of the season (185 DAP). The fruit were sampled at harvest (67 DAP). Bars indicate \pm standard error. *** Interaction between treatment and organ significant at *P*≤0.001. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

2.2.5. Leaf chlorophyll and CO₂ assimilation rate.

The day of the ¹³C pulse (May 2009), compost 2400 treated plants showed SPAD values similar to mineral control and higher than compost 800 and cow manure. At T19 (June 2009), mineral control trees showed the highest SPAD values, followed by compost 2400, compost 800 and cow manure (table 2.9).

Treatment	May-09	Jun-09	
Mineral	35.2a	35.8a	
Cow manure	29.6b	31.5c	
Compost 800	30.7b	31.6c	
Compost 2400	33.6a	34.0b	
Significance	***	***	

Table 2.9 Effect of fertilization treatment on leaf chlorophyll (SPAD unit)

***: effect significant at $P \le 0.001$. Values followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

On May 2009, mineral and compost 800 treated plants showed a higher photosynthetic activity than compost 2400, and similar to cow manure treatments (table 2.10). On June 2009, no significant differences were found among treatments.

Table 2.10 Effect of fertilization treatment on leaf CO ₂ assimilation rate (μ mol CO ₂ m ⁻² s ⁻¹)							
Treatment	May-09	Jun-09					
Mineral	6.23a	7.15					
Cow manure	4.85ab	8.32					
Compost 800	5.88a	7.00					
Compost 2400	3.83b	7.30					
Significance	*	n.s.					

n.s.,*: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$, respectively. Values followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

2.2.6. Soil fertility

Nineteen days after the ${}^{13}\text{CO}_2$ pulse (T19), NO₃⁻-N concentration in soil was not affected by treatments; however, NH₄⁺-N concentration was higher in compost 2400 as compared with other treatments (figure 2.7).

Compost 2400 treated plants increased microbial biomass in the soil as compared with mineral, cow manure and compost 800 plants (figure 2.8).



Figure 2.7 Effect of fertilization treatment on nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) and ammonium-N (NH₄⁺-N) soil concentrations. n.s., **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).



Figure 2.8 Effect of fertilization treatment on soil microbial biomass. ***: effect of treatment significant at $P \le 0.001$. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

2.3. Discussion

Our data show that organic fertilizer applied at the highest rate (2400 g pot⁻¹) enhanced plant growth as compared with mineral fertilization. It is important to stress that this effect was observed not only in root, but also in wood, leaves and fruits, indicating a general positive effect of compost management on canopy net CO₂ fixation. Several authors indicated that organic amendment applications improve soil properties, such as: 1) nutrient availability (Melero et al., 2007; Baldi et al., 2010), 2) porosity (Aggelides and Londra, 2000; Celik et al., 2004), 3) microbial biomass and activity (Ferreras et., 2006; García-Gil et al., 2000; Melero et al., 2007; Tu et al., 2006); reduce bulk density (Aggelides and Londra, 2000) and penetration resistance (Aggelides and Londra, 2000); thus enhancing plant growth. In this study, microbial biomass was stimulated by application of compost at the highest rate. Since soil microbial activity regulates plant nutrient availability through the solubilisation of soil minerals and mineralization of OM (Grayston et al., 1997; García-Gil et al., 2000), therefore it is expected a close relationship between microbial biomass and soil fertility. Among nutrients, compost application was effective in promoting soil NH₄⁺-N concentration, that is the form of N that is absorbed and assimilated by root with minimum energy expenses (Bloom et al., 1992). Studies on the effect of N ions on plant growth showed a higher response when at least part of N was supplied as NH₄⁺-N. In tomato root growth the best ratio between NO₃⁻N and NH₄⁺-N was established as 3 (Bloom et al., 1993), our results show a ratio of 3, and lower than 2 for mineral and compost fertilized soils, respectively. We can speculate that each species has an optimum ratio between NO_3^--N and NH_4^+-N , and that compost application could have supplied to peach root the ratio that allowed a better tree growth, than mineral fertilized trees. Moreover, it is possible that the addition to the soil of organic fertilizer has induced a positive priming effect releasing in the soil higher N quantity. Priming effect is defined by Kuzyakov et al. (2000) as "strong short term change in the turnover of soil OM caused by comparatively moderate treatments of the soil", the positive priming effect occurs when the added substance causes an acceleration of soil OM decomposition with an extra release of CO_2 , mineral N and other nutrients that all together can have contributed to improve tree performances.

Leaves through photosynthesis produce large amount of C that is exported to the tree sinks (Leonardos and Grodzinski, 2002; Marchi et al., 2005) such as fruits, shoots, roots, buds, etc. In this study, leaf ¹³C export was affected by fertilizer, because seven days after pulse, organic treated plants presented the lowest content of leaf ¹³C, meaning a faster translocation of C to the other tree organs (i. e. shoot apex, root and wood), compared to mineral fertilized trees. These data are supported by the values of ¹³C enrichment found in leaves 19 days after ¹³C pulse, when mineral control trees showed a higher value, compared to organic fertilized plants. Carbon compounds assimilated in the leaves are partitioned to the organs according to the tree phenological stage (i.e. the timing of organ initiation and growth) (Wardlaw, 1990; Hendrix, 2002), the distance from the leaves (Jordan and Habib, 1996), so that sinks closer to the leaves seem to attract more C compounds than those located far away from the source (like trunk and roots). Thus storage in roots begins in late summer, when shoot and fruits has concluded their growth. However, in this work, C partitioning did not always follow these trends. In fact, in June (19 days after ¹³C pulse), mineral fertilized plants presented more than half of the total ¹³C of the tree still allocated into the leaves, in contrast, organic fertilized trees showed the highest percentage of ${}^{13}C$ in the permanent organs (roots and wood). In December (185 days after ¹³C pulse), organic fertilized plants showed an important percentage of ¹³C in roots, whereas mineral control trees showed higher partitioning in fallen leaves and lignified shoots. This response can be explained by the rate of growth of the roots that was higher in compost treated trees as compared to mineral fertilized plants, that was probably responsible for the higher percentage of labeled C partitioned to the growing root. From our results it seem that fertilizer affected tree growth, and growth affected C partitioning within tree.

As expected, the amount of ¹³C found within the plant decreased over time, with a loss that 185 days after the pulse ranged between 57% (compost 2400) and 74% (mineral) of the total ¹³C fixed, with the highest losses of C between May and June. This C was the results of tissue respiration as well as root rhizodeposition. Interestingly organic fertilized plants presented higher C recovery than mineral control plants, probably because the better soil conditions did not promote a high root exudation to improve nutrient uptake. The high loss rate found in late spring is probably the result of a high metabolic activity in this time of the year with the consequent high respiration rate.

Fertilizer source altered the C relative distribution at the end of the season (December), when all organic treated plants showed a higher percentage of 13 C in wood and root and lower 13 C enrichment in leaves and twigs compared to mineral fertilized plants. This result can be explained by stronger sink strength of roots in organic treated plants as shown by the higher biomass production and C concentration. In fact, mineral fertilized plants recycled a lower percentage of C, meaning the presence of weaker sinks.

3. RESPONSE OF ROOT GROWTH AND OXIDATIVE STRESS TO INCREASING CONCENTRATION OF SOIL MINERAL AND ORGANIC NITROGEN

3.1 Materials and methods

3.1.1. Plant materials and treatments

The experiment was carried out on 176 micro propagated rootstocks of GF 677 hybrids *Prunus persica* x *Prunus amygdalus*, between May and September 2009 at the Cadriano experimental station (44° 35' N, 11° 27' E) of the University of Bologna, Italy. Plants were potted in May 2009 in 4 liter containers filled with a clay loam Bathicalci Eutric Cambisols soil (FAO, 1990) and sand at rate of 2:1 and were fertilized as in a completely randomized block design with the following mineral or organic N rates:

- unfertilized control (0 mg of N kg⁻¹ of soil);
- $200 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ of N};$
- $500 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ of N};$
- $1000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ of N}.$

The different rates of soil N were obtained by application of urea (mineral N) at: 2.2 g, 5.4 g and 10.8 g pot⁻¹ for 200, 500 and 1000 mg kg⁻¹, respectively. Organic N was applied as compost at 76, 190, and 380 g pot⁻¹. Compost (table 2.2) was mixed with the soil before potting and was the same used in experiment 1. To prevent any risk of N leaching plants were protected from the atmospheric precipitations and were manually irrigated.

Eight, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF) trees were harvested and separated in shoot (leaves + axes) and roots. At each harvest, shoot length was measured, and roots were cleaned with distilled water to eliminate the adherent soil, a white root sample was taken for enzyme analysis and electrolyte leakage. Shoot and remaining roots were oven-dried at 60°C for 96 hours and weighted. Additionally, at 8 DAF, roots were photographed to measure the total root length through the software WinRHIZO Tron MF (Regent Instrument Inc., Quebec, Canada).

3.1.2. Stress- related analysis

To determine the root stress and oxidative damage eventually associated to the level of N in the soil, 1500 mg of white roots were sampled. A sub sample of 500 mg was used to measure the electrolyte leakage according to Huang et al., 2005. The roots were immersed in a beaker with 40 ml of deionized water and electrical conductivity (EC) was measured immediately (EC_i), after 30 minutes (EC₃₀) and after boiling for 5 minutes (EC_f). Membrane leakage was estimated as a percent of total electrolytes in the root:

Eletrolyte leakage (%) =
$$100 \times (EC_{30} - EC_i) / (EC_f - EC_i)$$

The rest of white root (1000 mg) were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C until analysis.

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT), enzymes associated with reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen species, and total protein were assessed. Enzymes were extracted from frozen root samples finely ground in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle previously chilled with liquid nitrogen. The frozen root powder was immediately used for the enzyme determination. All procedures for enzyme activity and determination were carried out at 0 °C in an ice bath unless otherwise stated. The frozen powders were homogenized with 2.5 ml of the corresponding extraction buffer: for CAT, the roots were suspended in cold 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 1 mM EDTA and 5% (w/v) polyvinylpolypyrrolidone (PVPP). For SOD, the buffer was made of cold 100 mM sodium potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 1 mM EDTA and 5% (w/v) PVPP. The slurries were kept for 30 min in an ice bath and then centrifuged at 15.000 rip x g for 30 min at 4°C. Aliquots of 1.5 ml from the supernatants of CAT and SOD were desalted in disposable NAPTM25 columns (Amersham Biosciences AB, Uppsala, Sweden) and a 2.5 ml of eluate was recovered from each sample and utilized for enzyme assay and total soluble protein determination.

Catalase activity was determined at 20°C according to Aebi (1984). The reaction medium contained 10 mM H_2O_2 in 50 mM NaK phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 and 100 µl of enzyme eluate in a total volume of 1.2 ml; CAT activity was estimated by the decrease in absorbance of H_2O_2 at 240 nm and was expressed according to Havir and McHale (1987), where one unit of CAT activity corresponded to the amount of enzyme that decomposes 1 µmol of H_2O_2 per minute.

Total SOD activity was determined according to Madamanchi et al. (1994) modified by Masia (1998). For each sample assay, six tubes were set up containing 10, 20, 40, 60, 80 and 500 μ l of the enzyme extract. The reaction medium contained 2 μ M riboflavin, 10 μ M Lmethionine, 50 μ M nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT), 20 μ M KCN, 6.6 μ M Na₂EDTA, 10 to 500 μ l of the enzyme eluate and 65 μ M Na-phosphate buffer, pH 7.8, to give a total volume of 3.0 ml. SOD activity was assayed by measuring the ability of the enzyme extract to inhibit the photochemical reduction of NBT to blue formazan. Tubes were thermostated at 25 °C for 10 min. in absence of direct light. The reaction was started by exposing the mixture to four white fluorescent lamps (Leuci, 15 WTS preheat, daylight 6500 °K) in a box with aluminium-foilcoated walls. The blue colour developed in the reaction was spectrophotometrically measured at 560 nm (A560). One unit of total SOD activity will be defined as the amount of enzyme required to produce 50% inhibition of NBT photoreduction.

Total protein was determined in an aliquot of eluate resulting from the desalted supernatant used from CAT and SOD determinations. The aliquots were added to 2 ml 20% thiobarbituric acid (TCA) solution and left overnight at 4°C; the denatured and flocculated proteins were suspended then centrifuged at 14.000 x g for 20 min and the supernatant discarded. The protein pellet was suspended in 2.0 ml 0.5 M NaOH. After complete solution the supernatant was used to determine total soluble proteins with a commercial kit (BCA protein assay reagent kit, Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA) according to Smith et al. (1985). Bovine serum albumine was used as calibration standard.

Starch was determined according to Rasmussen e Henry (1990) on a 0.2 g dry root sample weighted accurately (0.2 g) into a culture tube (16 x 100 mm). At each tube 2.5 ml of the acetate buffer and 20 μ l Termamyl (α -amylase) were added and tubes were incubated in a boiling water bath for 30 min; and mixing samples 3 times with a vortex mixer. Tubes were then removed, allowed to cool to room temperature and then 10 μ l amyloglucosidase were added and samples were incubated overnight at 60 °C. The following morning tubes were centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 5 min and 0.5 ml of supernate was diluted in 10 ml of distilled water. Only 0.2 ml of the diluted supernate was transferred to small tubes (15 x 85 mm); 5 ml of glucose oxidase solution were added to tubo and samples were incubated in a water bath for 15 min at 40 °C, removed and allowed to stand at room temperature for 60 min. Finally, the samples absorbance was read at 505 nm and the absorbance of blank was read against distilled water. Starch was calculated using a calibration curve obtained with increasing concentration of potato starch treated as samples

3.1.3. Organ N concentrations

Total N concentrations in leaves and roots were determined by Kjeldahl method (Schuman et al., 1973) by mineralizing 0.5 g of ground tissue with 12 ml of a 95:5 (v/v) $H_2SO_4:H_3PO_3$ mixture, at 420 °C, for 180 min, distillation with 32% (v/v) NaOH and titration with 0.2 M HCl.

3.1.4. Soil analysis

At harvest time, soil samples were taken to evaluate NO_3^-N and NH_4^+-N concentration, as previously described (see 2.1.4) and total N. Total N concentrations were determined by Kjeldahl method (Schuman et al., 1973) as previously described (see 3.1.3).

3.1.5. Statistical analysis

Data were statistically analyzed as in a factorial experimental design with 2 factors: source of N (2 levels: mineral and organic) and rate of application (4 levels: 0, 200, 500 and 1000 ppm). When analysis of variance showed statistical significance ($P \le 0.05$), means were separated by Student Newman-Keuls (SNK) test; when interaction between source and rate of N was significant, 3 times standard error of means (MSE) was used as the minimum difference between two means statistically different at $P \le 0.05$ (Saville and Rowarth, 2008). Pearson correlation analysis was performed to evaluate the relation between leaf and root N concentration, NO_3^- , NH_4^+ and total N.

Polynomial contrast analysis was carried out to evaluate the function that best described the response to increasing N application rate of soil nitrate-N, ammonium-N, and total N concentrations, shoot and roots biomass production, and leaf N and root N concentrations.

3.2. Results

3.2.1. Soil N concentration

At all dates, source and rate of N application significantly interacted with soil NO₃⁻-N concentration. Mineral fertilizer application rate always increased soil nitrate-N concentrations linearly ($P \le 0.001$) (figure 3.1). In contrast, no significant differences were induced by the rate of organic N (figure 3.1)

Rate of application and fertilizer type significantly interacted with soil NH_4^+ -N concentrations. Eight DAF, compost treated soils did not show any NH_4^+ -N increase, while in 46

mineral N fertilized soil the concentration of NH_4^+ -N increased linearly with the rate of N application (figure 3.2). The same trend was observed at 37 DAF and 94 DAF ($P \le 0.001$) (figure 3.2). In these harvest dates, the application of organic N promoted a linear increase of soil NH_4^+ -N concentration, with $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.05$ at 37 and 94 DAF, respectively (figure 3.2).

At the first harvest, soil total N concentration was affected by N source and application rate, with no interaction between the 2 factors (figure 3.3). Compared with mineral treated soils, compost fertilized soil showed, on average, higher values of total N, at the same time the rate of 1000 mg kg⁻¹ presented the highest N concentration, followed by 500 mg kg⁻¹, control and 200 mg kg⁻¹ (figure 3.3 a). At 37 DAF and 94 DAF there was positive interaction between N source and fertilization rate; mineral 500 and mineral 1000 treatments had similar effect, lower than compost 1000 and higher than control and mineral 200. At the end of the experiment compost rates (figure 3.3 c). Organic N application rates were always linearly related to soil total N concentration, see figure 3.3 ($P \le 0.001$) in all harvests; while mineral N treatment showed this relation only at second ($P \le 0.001$) and third harvest ($P \le 0.05$).



Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen

Figure 3.1 Effect of source and rate of N application on soil nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) concentration at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization. *** Interaction between source and rate was significant at $P \le 0.001$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.





Figure 3.2 Effect of source and rate of N application on soil ammonium-N (NH_4^+ -N) concentration at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization. **, ***: Interaction between source and rate was significant at $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$, respectively. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.



Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen

Figure 3.3 Effect of source and rate of N application on soil total-N concentration at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization. 8 DAF no statistic interaction between source and rate of N application was observed and only application rate was statistically significant at $P \le 0.001$. ***: Interaction between source and rate was significant at $P \le 0.001$, 37 and 94 DAF. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.

3.2.2. Root length and biomass production

Source and rate of N significantly interacted with root length at 8 days after fertilization (table 3.1). Mineral 200 and 1000 and compost 200 mg N kg⁻¹ were similar to unfertilized plants; compost 1000 showed the highest root length (table 3.1; and figure 3.4).

Table 3.1 Effect of source and rate of N application on total root length (cm) at 8 days after fertilization (DAF).

	8 DAF						
N Rate (mg kg ⁻¹)	Mineral Compost						
0	38	32					
200	509	512					
1000	320	661					
Interaction	* (3 SEN	<i>A</i>)= 187					

* Interaction between source and rate of N application significant at $P \le 0.05$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.



Figure 3.4 Effect of source and rate of N application on root length at 8 days after fertilization.

Source and rate of N significantly interacted with shoot growth at all times of harvesting. Eight days after fertilization, N application of mineral 200 and compost 1000 induced the highest shoot biomass (figure 3.5 a). The application of 200 mg kg⁻¹ of mineral N induced an increase of shoot biomass compared to the untreated control, higher rate negatively affected shoot growth. Only the application of 1000 mg kg⁻¹ of organic N brought about an increase of biomass compared to the untreated control. At 37 and 94 DAF, N application of mineral N at 200 and 500 mg N kg⁻¹ showed the highest shoot biomass, with mineral 200 being higher at 37 DAF and mineral 500 higher at 94 DAF (figure 3.5). At both dates, compost treatments showed the lowest shoot growth, with little or no effect of increasing rates. At all harvest times shoots dry weight increased linearly and according to a second degree function as a response of organic ($P \le 0.001$) and mineral fertilizer ($P \le 0.001$) application rates, respectively (figure 3.5).

In the first and second sampling day, rate and source of N significantly interacted with root growth. Eight DAF, no significant differences were induced by compost treatments. Among rate of mineral N, the higher root dry weight was found as a response of application of 200 mg N kg⁻¹ compared to untreated control (figure 3.6 a). In the second harvest, root biomass was increased by application of 200 and 500 mg of N kg⁻¹ of mineral N, but not of organic N (figure 3.6 b). At last sampling no interaction between factors was found; mineral N was more effective than organic N in promoting root growth, with organic N application rate that showed not effect (figure 3.6 c). Roots biomass production showed a different response to increasing rate of N application, according to the source of N. Compost treated plants showed a linear and third degree trend at 37 DAF and 94 DAF (both with $P \le 0.001$), respectively; in contrast, mineral treated plants presented a cubic trend at 8 DAF ($P \le 0.05$) and second degree trend at 37 DAF ($P \le 0.05$) (figure 3.6).



Figure 3.5 Effect of source and rate of N application on shoot biomass (g) at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization. **, ***: Interaction between source and rate was significant at $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$, respectively. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.



Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen

Figure 3.6 Effect of source and rate of N application on root biomass (g) at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization. 94 DAF no statistic interaction between source and rate was observed and only source of N was statistically significant at $P \le 0.05$. ** Interaction between source and rate was significant at $P \le 0.01$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.

3.2.3. Leaf and root N concentrations

Rate and source of N significantly interacted with leaf N concentration in all sampling dates. At 8 DAF all rates of mineral N were effective in increasing leaf N concentration that was similar in 200 and 500 mg N kg⁻¹ treated plants. At the same time organic N had no effect, with the exception of compost 200 that showed the lowest leaf N concentration (table 3.2). Thirty-seven DAF, compost 200 and 1000 were similar to control plants; all mineral treatments increased leaf N concentration that was similar after the application rate of 500 and 1000 mg N kg⁻¹. At 94 DAF all compost treated plants and mineral 200 had similar concentration compared to unfertilized control; mineral 1000 showed the highest values followed by mineral 500 (table 3.2).

Leaf N concentration was linearly related to increasing rate of mineral N application at all harvest time ($P \le 0.001$). In contrast, organic fertilized plants presented a cubic trend ($P \le 0.001$) at 8 DAF and second degree trend ($P \le 0.05$) at 94 DAF (figure 3.7)

	8 DAF		37 DAF		94 DAF	
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)	Mineral	Compost	Mineral	Compost	Mineral	Compost
0	2.30		1.87		2.13	
200	3.08	1.56	2.41	1.82	2.18	2.06
500	2.97	2.11	2.75	2.20	2.94	2.01
1000	3.38	2.44	2.79	2.11	3.33	2.25
Interaction	*** 3 SE	M = 0.25	** 3 SE	M = 0.26	*** 3 SE	EM = 0.35

Table 3.2 Effect of source and rate of N application on leaf N concentrations (%) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

, * Interaction between source and rate of N significant at $P \le 0.01$ and $P \le 0.001$, respectively. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.



Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen

Figure 3.7 Effect of source and rate of N application on leaf N concentration (%) at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization, according to polynomial analysis. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.

At all dates, source and rate of N application significantly interacted with root N concentration (table 3.3). Compost treated plants showed a similar root N concentration to unfertilized plants, and lower than mineral fertilized trees at all evaluation times. Eight days after fertilization, all mineral treated plants showed similar root N concentration, higher than control and all compost treatments (table 3.3). At 37 DAF mineral fertilization induced an increase of N concentrations compared to control and compost plants; application of mineral N at 200 and 500 mg N kg⁻¹ promoted the highest values, followed by mineral 1000. In the last harvest, mineral 1000 showed the highest root N concentration, followed by mineral 500 and 200 that had similar concentrations (table 3.3).

Root N concentration was related to increasing rate of mineral N application. Eight and 37 DAF, a second degree equation best described this relation ($P \leq 0.05$ and $P \leq 0.001$, respectively), whereas at 94 DAF a linear trend $P \leq 0.001$ was observed (figure 3.8). In contrast, organic fertilized plants did not show a clear trend.

	8	DAF	37 DAF		94 DAF	
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)	Mineral	Compost	Mineral	Compost	Mineral	Compost
0	1	.26]	1.15	().94
200	1.87	1.18	1.69	1.11	1.31	1.04
500	1.74	1.19	1.75	1.17	1.37	1.01
1000	1.66	1.03	1.52	1.07	1.66	1.08
Interaction	*3 SEM	= 0.37	***3 SEM	= 0.16	** 3 SEN	<i>I</i> = 0.19

 Table 3.3 Effect of source and rate of N application on root N concentrations (%) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

 27 DAE

 94 DAE

*, **, *** Interaction between source and rate of N significant at $P \leq 0.05$, $P \leq 0.01$ and $P \leq 0.001$, respectively. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.



Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen

Figure 3.8 Effect of source and rate of N application on root N concentration (%) at 8 (a), 37 (b) and 94 (c) days after fertilization, according to polynomial analysis. ^{1,2}Mineral and compost trend function, respectively.

Soil NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N concentrations were linearly relate to with leaf N concentration (figure 3.9) with a Pearson correlation coefficient higher for NO₃⁻-N than NH₄⁺-N (table 3.4), in contrast, root N concentration was correlated only with soil NO₃⁻-N. Soil total N was not related to organ N concentration, or to NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N. Root N concentration was related with leaf N concentration with a Pearson coefficient of 0.67 (table 3.4).

	Leaf-N	Root-N	Soil NO ₃ ⁻ N	Soil NH4 ⁺ -N	Soil total-N
Leaf-N	-	0.67	0.84	0.47	0.02
		***	***	***	<i>n.s.</i>
Root-N	0.67	-	0.68	0.29	-0.31
	***		***	*	*
Soil NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.84	0.68	-	0.45	-0.08
	***	***		***	n.s.
Soil NH4 ⁺ -N	0.47	0.29	0.45	-	0.18
	***	*	***		n.s.
Soil total-N	0.02	-0.31	-0.08	0.18	-
	n.s.	*	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.	

Table 3.4 Correlation coefficient (r) and significance between leaf and root N concentrations, nitrate-N, ammonium-N and soil total-N concentrations.

n.s., *, **: not significant, significant at $P \le 0.05$ or at $P \le 0.001$, respectively.

Response of root growth and oxidative stress to increasing concentration of soil mineral and organic nitrogen



Figure 3.9 Correlation between soil NO₃⁻N concentration and leaves N concentration (r: Pearson correlation coefficient; ***: linear correlation significant at $P \le 0.001$).

3.2.4. Root stress evaluation

Source of N and rate of application did not significantly interact with root CAT activity. Eight days after fertilization CAT activity was not affected by source of N and was significantly higher in control plants than in fertilized trees (table 3.5). At 37 and 94 DAF no significant differences were observed among type of fertilizer and rates of N application. SOD activity was not influenced by the source of N at any of the sampling day. If considering the different N rate applications, 37 DAF SOD activity was increased by application of 200 mg N kg⁻¹, no matter the source of N (table 3.6). No significant differences were observed at 8 and 94 DAF.

SOURCE OF N	8 DAF	37 DAF	94 DAF
Mineral	112	169	313
Compost	103	213	229
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s	n.s
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)			
0	186a ¹	132	169
200	84.1b	173	222
500	89.6b	226	311
1000	61.3b	232	372
Significance	**	n.s	n.s
Interaction	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s	n.s

Table 3.5 Effect of source and rate of N application on root CAT activity (unit mg⁻¹ soluble proteins) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

n.s., **: effect of treatments not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Values followed by the same letter are not statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

SOURCE OF N	8 DAF	37 DAF	94 DAF
Mineral	52.1	108	217
Compost	50.3	103	304
Significance	n.s	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)			
0	49.2	71.4b ¹	222
200	41.2	150a	305
500	67.0	107b	268
1000	46.5	94.5b	214
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	**	<i>n.s.</i>
Interaction	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s	n.s

Table 3.6 Effect of source and rate of N application on root SOD activity (unit mg⁻¹ soluble proteins) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

n.s., **: effect of treatment not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively.¹Values followed by the different letter are statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

The concentration of starch in roots was not affected by source of N (table 3.7). In the first harvest, root starch concentration was higher in control plants, compared to application

of 200 and 1000 mg N kg⁻¹; 500 mg kg⁻¹ had a similar effect (table 3.7). No significant differences were found among factors in the other dates.

SOURCE OF N	8 DAF	37 DAF	94 DAF
Mineral	53.2	46.7	40.0
Compost	52.5	44.1	36.7
Significance	n.s	n.s	n.s
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)			
0	61.7a ¹	48.3	39.5
200	46.0b	44.3	39.7
500	55.1ab	45.4	37.5
1000	48.6b	43.6	36.6
Significance	*	n.s	n.s
Interaction	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s	n.s

Table 3.7 Effect of source and rate of N application on root starch concentration (mg g^{-1} D.W.) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

n.s., *: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$, respectively.¹Values followed by the different letter are statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$).

Thirty-seven DAF, in general the application of mineral N increased electrolyte leakage compared to compost application, while no differences were observed 8 DAF (table 3.8). Considering the rate of application, 8 DAF the application of 200 mg kg⁻¹ N increased electrolyte leakage compared to 1000 mg kg⁻¹ and unfertilized plants, no matter the source of N; 500 mg kg⁻¹ had intermediate value. At 94 DAF there was a positive interaction between source and rate of N application; at this data mineral N at 200 and 500 mg N kg⁻¹ showed the highest electrolyte leakage

	8 DAF	37 DAF	94 DAF	
TREATMENT			Mineral	Compost
Mineral	32.2	21.8a	-	-
Compost	29.7	16.1b	-	-
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	*	-	-
N RATE (mg kg ⁻¹)				
0	$28.4b^{1}$	17.7	21.5	
200	36.5a	18.5	28.0	17.9
500	32.1ab	18.0	31.8	17.9
1000	26.8b	21.4	23.1	16.1
Significance	*	<i>n.s.</i>	* 3 SEM = 6.20	

Table 3.8 Effect of source and rate of N application on root electrolyte leakage (%) at 8, 37 and 94 days after fertilization (DAF).

n.s., *: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$. ¹Values followed by the same letter are statistically different (at $P \le 0.05$). At 94 DAF interaction between source and rate of N application a significant at $P \le 0.05$. Values differing by 3 standard error of means (SEM) are statistically different.

3.3. Discussion

Soil total N concentrations in organically fertilized soils were higher than mineral fertilized plots. Other authors observed the same behavior when compared soil amended organically with mineral fertilized soils (Burger and Jackson, 2003; Kramer et al., 2006; Herencia et al., 2007). Since the rate of N application was the same for mineral and organic N source, we conclude that the organic fertilizer reduced the loss of N in the environment compared to mineral fertilizations. The N applied through compost is not immediately available for plant use and must be mineralized by soil microorganisms, thus resulting in a gradual release of inorganic N, which can be used for plants (Burger and Jackson, 2003; Herencia et al., 2007). The question is whether or not the mineralization rate can meet tree requirement. Soil nitrate-N concentration in compost fertilized tree was always included between 2 and 12 mg kg⁻¹ that are considered optimal for peach growth (Tagliavini et al., 1996). Since peach trees seem to remove 10 mg kg⁻¹ of N, corresponding to 50 kg N ha⁻¹, should meets tree requirements in all the phenological stages. Peach tree is considered to remove 100-150 kg N ha⁻¹ according to tree yield.

This means that even high rate of OM application, does not produce a high mineralization rate, on the contrary it feeds soil microbial population, which decrease the risk

of an excessive production of NO₃⁻-N. The soil system reaches equilibrium, so that microbial biomass immobilizes the excess of NO₃⁻-N in the soil making it available at a low rate. Independently of the rate of N application, mineral fertilized soil had higher NO₃⁻-N concentrations compared with organic fertilization, which resulted in excess of tree demand increasing the risk of environment in the time because there is positive correlation between nitrate leaching and soil nitrate pools (Kramer et al., 2006). This NO₃⁻-N is available for plant use, but it can be more easily lost from the root zone because it is not adsorbed by soil particles and consequently is susceptible to leaching; for this reason high concentrations of inorganic N, can have detrimental environmental impacts (Keeney and Hatfield, 2001; Below, 2002; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

Shi and Norton (2000) showed low NH_4^+ -N concentrations (< 1 mg kg⁻¹) in soil amended with compost. Similar results were obtained in this study, where independently of the rate of N application, compost treated plots showed very low NH_4^+ -N. Compared to organically fertilized soil, mineral fertilization increased NH_4^+ -N concentrations in the soil. This increase was greater in the first harvest, due to the rapid hydrolyzation of urea by free and microorganisms-bound urease; in fact, under Mediterranean conditions urea fertilizer can be completely hydrolyzed to ammonium within less than 5 days (Engels and Marschner, 1995).

Mineral fertilized plants presented higher leaf and root-N concentrations than compost treated plants. Similar results were found in apple leaves (Kramer et al., 2006) and in a crop rotation system (Herencia et al., 2007). Previous studies showed that fine root-N concentration is positively correlated with soil NO_3^- availability (Hendricks et al., 2000). Similar response was observed in this study, where either leaf and root-N concentrations were positively correlated with soil NO_3^- -N concentrations better than with NH_4^+ -N. These results bring evidence to the fact that soil fertility in term of N in calcareous soils can be increased by increasing NO_3^- -N concentration.

In general, the response curve of plant growth to nutrient supply has three zones. In the first one, defined as deficient range, biomass production increases with increasing nutrient supply; in the second region, plant growth reaches a maximum and remains unaffected by nutrient amount (adequate range); finally, in the last region, plant biomass falls with increasing nutrient supply, indicating toxic range (Marschner, 1995). Shoot and root biomass production of mineral fertilized plants showed this trend. In fact at the first harvest, an adequate range was found at 200 mg of N kg⁻¹ rate of N application, which presented a soil NO_3^- -N concentration of 57 mg kg⁻¹, in contrast, 500 and 1000 mg of N kg⁻¹ rate of N 64

application (with a NO₃-N of 95 and 156 mg kg⁻¹, respectively) were toxic to plant growth; similar trend was observed at the second harvest; however, in the last harvest, the adequate range was 500 mg of N kg⁻¹, which had a soil NO₃⁻-N concentration of 75 mg kg⁻¹. In contrast, compost fertilized trees showed increases in biomass with increasing rate of N application because NO_3 -N in soil responded not linearly to compost application. These results suggest that soil NO₃⁻N concentration higher than 95 ppm induced a toxic effect, in fact, there are different studies that showed a negative effect on plant growth at high soil and organ NO₃⁻N concentration (Bloom et al., 1993; Scheible et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 1999; Linkohr et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2004). Moreover, mineral fertilized plants at rate of 1000 mg N kg⁻¹ showed the lowest total root length with the highest NO₃⁻-N soil concentration. There are a number of evidences that high soil NO_3^- -N concentration inhibited root growth. In Arabidopsis, Zhang et al. (1999) indicated that NO₃⁻N concentration greater than 10 mM had a strong inhibitory effect on lateral root production, similar results were reported by Stitt and Feil (1999). As a possible explanation it has been postulated that NO₃⁻N altered levels of phytohormones, such as cytokinin, auxins and abscisic acids, which were involved in root growth (Walch-Liu et al., 2005; Tian et al., 2008).

The soil NO_3 ⁻-N concentration that allowed the best growth of plant was higher than that discussed in commercial orchard and proposed by Tagliavini et al. (1996) who suggests 15 mg kg⁻¹. The value found in this study is 57, this discrepancy is probably the result of the different kind of trees investigated. Adult bearing tree, with a well establishes internal cycle of N, probably need less N per year than non-bearing young fast growing trees such those used in this experiment. In addition we used as a parameter to evaluate the effect of N soil availability the vegetation growth which is not the goal of a commercial orchard.

Higher soil N concentration probably negatively affect root life spans by increasing metabolic activity (Tjoelker et al., 2005; Withington et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2008). The enhancement of metabolism may require the presence of additional defense mechanisms against reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as CAT and SOD (Oliveira-Medici et al., 2004). In cotton plants, N application significantly increased the root CAT activity, but decreased SOD activity (Liu et al., 2008). Misra and Gupta (2006) observed higher SOD activity in NO_3^- -fed plants than in NH_4^+ treated plants; and at the same time, higher CAT activity in NH_4^+ -fed plants compared with NO_3^- supplied plants. Oliveira-Medici et al. (2004) observed in maize the highest CAT activity in roots grown at high N concentrations, whereas in barley, CAT activity was high in roots grown at the lowest N concentration. In the present study, only at the first harvest a significantly lower CAT activity was found on fertilized plants, with

unfertilized plants showing the highest values. Similar trend was observed for SOD activity, which only at second harvest presented significant differences, with highest values at 200 mg kg⁻¹. Catalase and SOD activities showed unclear trends, suggesting that unfertilized plants and 200 mg kg⁻¹ treated plants would be more stressed than the other plants due to either by lack of mineral nutrients for the plant growth (in untreated plants) or by optimal plant growth that could lead a high metabolic activity. For this reason CAT and SOD were not a good tool for evaluate a possible root oxidative damage.

Scheible et al. (1997) found that nitrate accumulation in shoot leads to a strong inhibition of starch synthesis and turnover in leaves, decreasing level of sugar in root. In this study, at the first harvest, untreated plants showed higher starch content compared with the other treatments, indicating that increasing rate of N application might influence negatively starch accumulation in roots.

Electrolyte leakage can be associated to cell damage, and has been demonstrated that it is correlated with antioxidative enzyme synthesis (Mckay and White, 1996; Bajji et al., 2001). Elevated values indicate a high membrane leakage and so a high stress level. Our results are not completely clear, since an increase of electrolyte leakage was observed in plants fertilized with mineral N at a rate of 200 and 500 mg N kg⁻¹ 8 and 94 days after fertilization. The magnitude of the response was however low, testifying a relatively mild stress. The level of nitrate N was probably low compared to the ability of the roots to adapt or this parameter does not indicate the real NO_3^- -N induced root stress.
4. EFFECT OF ORGANIC FERTILIZATION ON SOIL FERTILITY, TREE NUTRITIONAL STATUS AND PRODUCTIVITY

4.1. Materials and methods

4.1.1. Plant materials and treatments

The study was carried out in an experimental farm located in the south-eastern part of the Po valley of Italy (44° 27' Nord; 12°13' Est) on a nectarine (*Prunus persica*, Batsch var. *nectarina* (Ait) Maxim.) orchard. The trees of the variety Stark RedGold, grafted on hybrid GF 677 (*Prunus persica* x *Prunus amygdalus*), were trained as in a delayed vasette system and planted on January 2001, at a distance of 5 m between the rows and 3.8 m between trees along the row. Soil tillage was carried out in a 2 m wide tree row, while the alleys were covered with spontaneous grass. From June to September, trees were regularly watered with a drip irrigation system to return the weekly evapotranspiration rate, calculated on the basis of the data of the class A PAN evaporimeter of the local meteorological station. The key characteristics of the Calcaric Cambisol (FAO, 1990) soil of the orchard are summarized in table 4.1. The following treatments were compared, since orchard plantation in 2001, as in a randomised complete block design with four replicates:

- unfertilized control;
- mineral fertilization including phosphorus (P at 100 kg ha⁻¹) and potassium (K at 100 kg ha⁻¹) applied only at planting and N (70 kg ha⁻¹) split in May (60%) and September (40%). In 2004, N supply rate was increased to 120 kg ha⁻¹, and from 2006 to 130 kg N ha⁻¹;
- compost at a rate of 5 t D.W. ha⁻¹ year ⁻¹;
- compost at a rate of 10 t D.W. ha⁻¹ year ⁻¹.

Fertilizer application in treatments 3 and 4 was split, as for mineral N fertilization in May (60%) and in September (40%). Compost was tilled into the soil at 25 cm of depth and applied only on the 2-m wide tree row, consequently on a hectare surface it was applied to $4,000 \text{ m}^2$ out of 10,000 m². Compost was the same used in the previous trials (table 2.2).

Properties	
Sand (%)	6.7 ± 1.5
Silt (%)	67 ± 1.41
Clay (%)	26.2 ± 1.71
pH	7.8 ± 0.05
Ca carbonate (%)	30.5 ± 1.29
Active lime (%)	12.5 ± 1.29
Organic matter (%)	1.63 ± 0.13
K extractable (mg kg ⁻¹ D.W.)	182 ± 33.7
P Olsen (mg kg ⁻¹ D.W.)	18.5 ± 2.38
C.E.C. ¹ (meq 100g ⁻¹ D.W.)	10.1 ± 1.95
Electrical conductivity (μ S cm ⁻¹)	200 ± 8.2

Table 4.1 Chemical and physical soil characteristics of the soil at the beginning (2001) of the trial (average of 4 replicates \pm standard deviation).

¹CEC: cation exchange capacity

4.1.2. Soil analysis

Soil OM and total N were measured yearly at the end of vegetative season. To assess the effect of treatments on soil NO_3^--N , NH_4^+-N and moisture, soil cores were collected at a depth of 0-40 and 40-80 cm four times a year (before spring fertilization, 40 days after spring fertilization, in mid-July and 40 days after late summer application). Nitrates and ammonium-N were extracted as previously described (cap. 2.1.4). Microbial biomass C was measured as described in cap. 2.1.4 on soil samples collected in the same dates of nitrate-N determinations and at the depth of 4-20 cm.

4.1.3. Canopy analysis

In July a sample of 40 leaves per plot were collected for mineral analysis, rinsed, oven-dried, milled and analysed for N, P, K, Ca, Mg, Fe, Mn, Zn and Cu. Total N concentrations were determined by Kjeldahl method (paragraph 3.1.3). Metal concentration in leaves was determined by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (Varian AA200, Mulgrave, Victoria, Australia) on samples previously mineralized by US EPA Method 3052 (Kingston, 1988) by treating 0.3 g of dry leaves in an Ethos TC microwave lab station (Milestone, Bergamo, Italy). Phosphorous concentration was determined according to Saunders and Williams, 1955 as follows: 0.5 g (DW) leaf samples were mineralized with 11 mL of 96%

(v/v) sulphuric acid and 4 mL of 35% (v/v) hydrogen peroxide, neutralized with 5 M NaOH and enriched with 30 mL of a mixture of 0.1 M ascorbic acid, 32 mM ammonium molybdate, 2.5 M sulphuric acid and 3 μ M potassium antimonyl tartrate to develop a phospho-molybdic blue colour; P was spectrophotometrically quantified at 700 nm.

In September 2010 plastic net were positioned around one tree per block, in order to collect all abscised leaves; periodically leaves were collected and weighted.

4.1.4. Fruit production

Yield of the central 4 trees of each plot was recorded at commercial harvest; fruit average weight and precocity index were calculated. Precocity index was calculated according to the following formula:

$$P.I. = (dd1*kg1) + (dd2*kg2) + (dd3*kg3)/kg1 + kg2 + kg3$$

where: dd = number of days between the day before the first harvest and each of the following harvest days (1, 2, and 3); kg = amount of peach harvested at each sampling date. Moreover 20 additional fruits were used for the determination of skin color, fruit firmness, pH, acidity and soluble solid content. Fruit firmness was determined by a pressure tester (Effe.Gi, Ravenna, Italy) fitted with an 8-mm-diameter plunger on two side of the fruit previously peeled. Two slices from each fruit were cut and homogenized; the juice obtained from each sample of 20 fruits was used for the determination of solid soluble concentration (SSC) by a digital refractometer (PR-1, Atago Tokio, Japan), acidity and pH by a Compact Tritator I (Crison, Barcellona, Spain). Two additional slices were collected, lyophilized, milled and used for mineral analysis as described previously.

4.1.5. Statistical analysis

Soil NO₃⁻-N and NH₄⁺-N were analysed as in a factorial design with soil depths and treatments as factors. Otherwise data were analysed as in a complete randomised block design and when analysis of variance showed a statistical effect of treatments ($P \le 0.05$), means were separated by Student Newman Keuls test.

4.2. Results

4.2.1. Soil fertility

In 2010, the application of compost at high rate increased soil OM if compared to other treatment (table 4.2). After 10 years, the application of 10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ of compost increased soil OM by 222 %, compost at 5 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ increased OM by 104 if compared to the untreated control (table 4.2). Total N concentration was increased by compost application at the rate of 10 t ha⁻¹ compared to the other treatments that showed similar N concentrations (table 4.2). Soil OM and total N were significantly correlated (figure 4.1). Soil pH resulted lower in soil treated with compost at both rates only if compared with unfertilized control (table 4.2).

Table 4.2 Effect of fertilization treatment on total N and organic matter and pH in the soil at the beginning of the trial (2001) and in 2010.

TREATMENT	Total N (‰)		ATMENTTotal N (‰)Organic matter (%)		pH	
	2001	2010	2001	2010	2001	2010
Control	1.05	$1.12 b^1$	1.67	1.93 b	7.8	8.08 a
Mineral	1.07	1.24 b	1.65	1.98 b	7.8	8.00 ab
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	1.05	1.87 b	1.62	3.30 b	7.8	7.95 b
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	1.05	2.83 a	1.63	5.25 a	7.8	7.93 b
Significance	-	***	-	**	n.s.	*

ns, *, **, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$, $P \le 0.01$, $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 4.1 Correlation between soil organic matter (OM) and total N. (r: correlation coefficient: ***: linear correlation significant at $P \le 0.001$).

In 2010 no significant interaction between soil depth and fertilization treatment was observed for mineral N concentrations. In May the application of mineral fertilizer and compost increased, in the soil profile of 0-80 cm, NO_3 -N concentration. In July, while compost application (at both rates) showed intermediate values. The application of compost at 10 t ha⁻¹ increased nitrate-N availability at the end of the season (figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Effect of fertilization treatments on NO₃⁻N concentration in soil as observed in 2010 at 0-80 cm of depth. ns, *, **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$ and $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

Soil ammonium-N concentration was increased by the application of compost at the highest rate in April (table 4.3) and May. In July and November, low concentrations (less than 1 mg kg⁻¹ DW) of NH_4^+ -N were measured (data not reported). Depth did not influence NH_4^+ -N concentration in soil.

TREATMENT	April	May
Control	$4.0 b^{1}$	5.9 b
Mineral	7.1 b	5.7 b
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	6.2 b	7.7 ab
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	10.5 a	10.3 a
Significance	**	*
DEPTH (cm)		
0-40	8.5	8.5
40-80	5.3	6.3
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>

Table 4.3 Effect of fertilization treatments on NH_4^+ -N concentration in soil as observed in 2010.

ns, *, **,: effect not significant or significant at P ≤ 0.05 , P ≤ 0.01 , respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different (P ≤ 0.05).

No significant interaction between treatment and depth was observed for soil moisture (table 4.4). The application of compost at high rate increased soil water content in April. In May, July and November no significant differences between treatments were observed. In April and November soil moisture was higher in the shallower soil layer, while in May and July it was higher among 40 and 80 cm of depth (table 4.4).

The application of compost at the highest rate increased soil microbial biomass in April and May, followed by compost at 5 t ha⁻¹ (table 4.5), which promoted a higher microbial C, compared to untreated and mineral fertilizer treated soil (table 4.5). No significant differences were observed in July and November.

TREATMENT	April	May	July	November
Control	19.4 b ¹	15.5	14.4	17.5
Mineral	19.8 b	16.9	12.0	16.9
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	20.1 b	16.4	14.1	17.2
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	22.2 a	17.7	14.1	17.7
Significance	**	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>
DEPTH (cm)				
0-40	21.1	17.3	12.6	19.1
40-80	19.7	15.9	14.7	15.6
Significance	**	**	**	**

Table 4.4 Effect of fertilization treatments on soil moisture (%) as observed in 2010.

ns, *, **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$, $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

Table 4.5 Effect of fertilization treatment on soil microbial carbon (μ g C g⁻¹ DW) in 2010.

TREATMENT	April	May	July	November
Control	$276 d^1$	321 c	299	218
Mineral	345 c	355 с	342	280
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	435 b	494 b	528	269
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	588 a	733 a	548	337
Significance	***	***	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>

ns, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

4.2.2. Leaf chlorophyll and mineral nutrient concentration

In 2010, trees treated with mineral fertilizer showed a higher leaf chlorophyll content than compost 5 t ha⁻¹ and control; the application of compost at 10 t ha⁻¹ showed SPAD values not different from mineral and compost 5 t ha⁻¹ but higher than control (table 4.6). Leaf area of mineral plants was similar to compost (both rate) and higher than untreated control (table 4.6); specific leaf weight was higher in control plants if compared with compost at high rate and mineral fertilized trees (table 4.6).

	Leaf chlorophyll	Leaf area	Specific weight
IKEAIMENI	(SPAD unit)	(cm ² /leaf)	(mg/cm ²)
Control	$38.0 c^1$	43.4 b	7.6a
Mineral	42.8 a	49.0 a	6.9b
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	40.3 b	45.8 ab	7.2ab
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	41.4 ab	47.4 ab	6.9b
Significance	***	*	*

Table 4.6 Effect of fertilization treatment on leaf chlorophyll, leaf area and specific weight.

ns, *, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.05$, $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

Leaf N concentration of plants treated with compost at both rate was lower than that in mineral fertilized trees but higher than control (table 4.7). No significant differences among treatments were observed for P, K and Ca; magnesium leaf concentration was higher in control plants (table 4.7).

TREATMENT	Ν	Р	K	Ca	Mg
	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)
Control	$2.7 c^{1}$	0.5	1.8	2.4	0.42 a
Mineral	3.4 a	0.4	1.8	2.3	0.38 b
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	3.0 b	0.3	1.9	2.2	0.38 b
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	3.2 b	0.6	2.0	2.2	0.37 b
Significance	***	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	**

Table 4.7 Effect of fertilization treatment on macronutrient leaf concentration in 2010.

ns, **, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

No significant differences between treatments were observed in micronutrient leaf concentration (table 4.8), with exception of Mn that was higher in mineral treated plants as compared with the other treatments.

Leaf chlorophyll (SPAD unit values) was correlated to N concentration in leaves (figure 4.3).

Effect of organic fertilization on soil fertility, tree nutritional status and productivity

TDFATMENT	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
IKEAIWENI	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)
Control	59.3	$27.9 b^1$	6.8	30.5
Mineral	59.9	35.6 a	8.0	32.5
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	58.6	29.3 b	7.3	33.1
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	59.6	31.4 b	7.7	32.8
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	**	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>

Table 4.8 Effect of fertilization treatment	on micronutrient leaf	concentration in 2010.
---	-----------------------	------------------------

ns, **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).



Figure 4.3 Correlation between leaf N concentration and leaf chlorophyll. (r: Pearson correlation coefficient: ***: linear correlation significant at $P \le 0.001$).

4.2.3. Fruit quality and plant productivity

Ten years of different fertilizers management did not modify tree yield, however, in 2010 the application of compost at high rate and of mineral fertilizer increased fruit size and precocity index if compared with untreated control (table 4.9).

Acidity was increased by the application of compost at high rate and mineral fertilizer, no significant differences were observed for fruit SSC, pH and firmness (table 4.10).

TDEATMENIT	Yield	Fruit weight	PI
IKEAIMENI	(kg tree ⁻¹)	(g)	(days)
Control	44.5	$148 b^1$	3.0 c
Mineral	43.3	170 a	5.2 a
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	47.7	164 ab	4.2 b
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	49.2	172 a	4.8 ab
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	**	***

Table 4.9. Effect of fertilization treatment on plant yield, fruit weight, precocity index (PI) in 2010.

ns, **, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

Table 4.10 Effect of fertilization treatment on acidity, soluble solid content (SSC) and firmness of fruit in 2010.

	Acidity	SSC	pН	Fruit firmness
IKLAIMENI	(g L ⁻¹)	(° brix)		(kg)
Control	10.0 b^1	13.0	3.5	2.0
Mineral	11.3 a	13.0	3.5	2.6
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	10.9 b	13.1	3.5	2.2
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	11.3 a	13.2	3.5	3.8
Significance	*	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.

ns, **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

Fruit N concentration was increased by the application of mineral fertilizer and compost 10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (table 4.11). Also fruits from compost 5 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ treated trees showed higher N concentration than control fruits, but lower than mineral and high compost. No significant differences among treatments were observed for the other macro and micronutrient concentrations (table 4.11 and 4.12).

TDEATMENT	Ν	Р	K	Ca	Mg
IKEAIMENI	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(% D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)
Control	$0.6 c^1$	0.4	1.2	326.5	544.3
Mineral	1.0 a	0.2	1.2	242.2	567.5
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	0.8 b	0.3	1.2	269.2	551.4
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	0.9 ab	0.3	1.3	232.2	575.6
Significance	**	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>	<i>n.s.</i>

Table 4.11 Effect of fertilization treatment on macronutrient fruit concentrations in 2010.

ns, ***: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.001$, respectively. ¹Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

TREATMENT	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)	(ppm D.W.)
Control	17.7	3.2	5.9	10.6
Mineral	18.6	3.1	6.6	10.9
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	17.3	2.9	6.3	10.5
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	17.6	2.8	6.9	9.9
Significance	<i>n.s.</i>	n.s.	n.s.	<i>n.s.</i>

Table 4.12. Effect of fertilization treatment on micronutrient leaf concentrations in 2010.

ns, **: effect not significant or significant at $P \le 0.01$, respectively. Means followed by the same letter are not statistically different ($P \le 0.05$).

No significant differences among treatments were observed in the weight of abscised leaves (table 4.13).

TREATMENT	Abscised leaves (kg)
Control	2.74
Mineral	4.19
Compost 5 t ha ⁻¹	2.92
Compost 10 t ha ⁻¹	3.78
Significance	n.s.

Table 4.13 Effect of fertilization treatment on abscised leaves.

ns: effect not significant.

4.3. Discussion

The most important effect of distribution of compost at a rate of 10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for ten years in this commercial orchard was the increase of OM that jumped from 1.63 to 5.25%. It must be stressed however that this value refers to a volume of soil of 0.25 m depth by an area of 2/5 of that occupied by orchard since, OM was incorporate in a 2 m width strip. It is thus expected a lower effect in term of the whole volume of soil occupied by an annual crops. Related to this increase also a higher total N was observed after application of compost at the highest rate (10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) that allowed restoring soil fertility after 10 years of experimentation as also reported by other authors (Sanchez et al., 1989). Despite the improvement of soil chemical properties, NO₃⁻-N availability remained in the range of 5 to 20 mg kg⁻¹, concentration that is considered optimal for peach nutrition (Tagliavini et al., 1996). In general compost application is reported to increase soil pH, due to the mineralization of C, which produces OH⁻ ions (Eghball, 2002; García-Gil et al., 2004; Butler and Muir, 2006; Melero et al., 2007; Hargreaves et al., 2008). Nevertheless, in this study, both compost application rates prevented soil pH to increase. This can be explaine considering the relatively high native soil pH and the beneficial effect of soil OM to bring soil pH to neutrality.

On the other hand, several authors indicated that application of OM affects soil biological properties, for example increasing microbial activity (Leifeld et al., 2002; Pérez-Piqueres et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2007; Diacono and Montemurro, 2010). In this case, compost at high rate increased soil microbial C since the beginning of the experiment (Baldi et al., 2010).

Kramer et al. (2006) and Herencia et al. (2007) observed that compost-fertilized plants presented lower leaf N concentration as compared with mineral supplied plants, similar results were observed in this study; in contrast, leaf chlorophyll content was similar between mineral and compost-treated plants. Additionally, a positive correlation between SPAD values and leaf N concentration were observed, such as previously demonstrated by Tagliavini et al. (1996) and Porro et al. (2000).

It is known that N fertilization stimulates plant yields by increasing assimilate availability (Saenz et al., 1997); however after 10 years of different treatment, tree yield was not affected. Fruit N concentration was increased by the application of mineral fertilizer and compost, as well as fruit weight, indicating a relation between N application and peach size as observed by Rader et al. (1985).

Soluble solid concentration usually do not respond to fertilizer application (Stylianidis and Syrgiannidis, 1995), rather high application of N can reduce fruit firmness even if, in the

present experiment, we did not find this effect on fruit firmness but only a delay of fruit ripening, shown by higher acidity and precocity index, after treatment with mineral fertilizer and 10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ of compost. Probably the higher mineral N soil availability delayed fruit maturation; in peach this is better determined by considering the precocity index rather than fruit firmness, because fruit harvest is managed through several pickings, to remove fruit at the most uniform maturity stage.

5. CONCLUSIONS

The results reported in these studies show that the addition of compost at high rate (60 g kg⁻¹) is effective to increase CO_2 fixation and to promote not only root growth, but also shoot and fruit biomass, indicating that compost application does not subtract C from the fruit to promote root growth. Furthermore, organic fertilizer change C partitioning, favoring C accumulation not only in roots, but also wood.

The highest rate of compost application used in the pot trial, corresponds to several hundreds of tons per hectare, which is possible to obtain after continuous application through all the orchard lifetime. This high concentration of soil OM is rather responsible for increasing a number of soil fertility indexes, including microbial biomass. However, this rate was not effective to increase nitrate-N soil concentration, indicating the soil capacity to maintain low level of mineral N is relevant, even with high level of OM.

Nitrate-N release was in contrast the most promptly effect of urea-N applications even at the lowest (200 mg kg⁻¹) rate tested. This fertilization strategy, from one hand is effective to remediate N deficiency swiftly, from the other hand has a potential in environment pollution, related to nitrate-N leaching with the draining water.

The data here presented on plant growth confirms previous reports about the best nitrate-N soil concentration for peach trees. The highest root and shoot dry weight was found at nitrate-N soil concentration of 57 mg kg⁻¹. Any increase above this value was ineffective to promote growth. In our trial, the decrease of root growth, as a response to excessive nitrate-N soil concentration, was not anticipated by root oxidative stress. Probably the stress analyses evaluated in our experiment were not the most suitable for the hybrid peach x almond rootstock here investigated.

The quality of compost over the mineral N was observed also in commercial orchard conditions. The application of compost at 10 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ under our conditions for 10 years allowed to storage in the soil around 2.7 t of C per year.

The high C assimilation rate was clearly the results of a larger leaf area, that probably was promoted by the better root environment conditions, characterized by a general higher fertility. We believe that the possible improved availability of nutrient in the soil alone, can not explain the boost of plant biomass production; probably a combination of biochemical factors were responsible for the plant response, involving a possible 'priming effect' of organic material added to the soil, along with an increase of the population of the so called plant growth promoting rhizobacteria, that together increased efficiency of root uptake and availability of exogenous bioregulators and finally plant growth.

6. REFERENCES

Aebi H., 1984. Catalase in vitro. Methods Enzymol, 105: 121-126.

- Agehara S. and Warncke D.D., 2005. Soil moisture and temperature effects on nitrogen release from organic nitrogen sources. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 69: 1844-1855.
- Aggelides S.M. and Londra P.A., 2000. *Effects of compost produced from town wastes and sewage sludge on the physical properties of a loamy and a clay soil*. Bioresource Technology, 71: 253-259.
- Amundson R., 2001. The carbon budget in soils. Annu.Rev.Earth Planet.Sci, 29: 535-562.
- Anderson, J. and Domsch, K., 1978. *A physiological method for the quantitative measurement* of microbial biomass in soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 10: 215-221.
- Azevedo J. and Stout P.R., 1974. Farm animal manures: an overview of their role in the agricultural environment. Manual 44, California Agricultural Experiment Station, Davis.
- Bahrman N., Gouy A., Devienne-Barret F., Hirel B., Vedele F. and Le Gouis J., 2005. Differential change in root protein patterns of two wheat varities under high and low nitrogen nutrition levels. Plant Sciences, 168: 81-87.
- Bajji M., Kinet J.M. and Lutts S., 2001. The use of the electrolyte leakage method for assessing cell membrane stability as a water stress tolerance test in durum wheat. Plant Growth Regulation, 00: 1-10.
- Baldi E., Toselli M., Eissenstat D.M. and Marangoni B., 2010. Organic fertilization leads to increased peach root production and lifespan. Tree Physiology, 0: 1-10.
- Baldi E., Toselli M., Marcolini G., Quartieri M., Cirillo E., Innocenti A. and Marangoni B., 2010. Compost can successfully replace mineral fertilizers in the nutrient management of commercial peach orchard. Soil Use and Management, 26: 346-353.
- Below F.E., 2002. *Nitrogen metabolism and crop productivity*. In: Pessarakli M (ed.), Handbook of plant and crop physiology. Second edition, Marcel Decker, New York USA, pp. 385-406.
- Bloom A.J., Jackson E. and Smart D.R., 1993. *Root growth as a function of ammonium and nitrate in the root zone*. Plant, Cell and Environment, 16: 199-206.
- Bloom A.J., Meyerhoff P.A., Taylor A.R. and Rost T.L., 2003. *Root development and absorption of ammonium and nitrate from the rhizosphere*. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, 21: 416-431.

- Bloom A.J., Sukrapanna S.S. and Warner R.L., 1992. Root respiration associated with ammonium and nitrate absorption and assimilation by Barley. Plant Physiology, 99: 1294-1301.
- Böhme L., Langer U. and Böhme F., 2005. Microbial biomass, enzyme activities and microbial community structure in two European long-term field experiments. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 109: 141-152.
- Bolinder M.A., Angers D.A., Giiroux M. and Laverdière M.R., 1999. *Estimating C inputs retained as soil organic matter from corn (Zea Mays L.).* Plant and Soil, 215: 85-91.
- Bot A. and Benites J., 2005. *The importance of soil organic matter. Key to drought-resistant soil and sustained food and production.* FAO Soils bulletin, 80. Rome, Italy.
- Boukcim H., Pagès L. and Mousain D., 2006. Local NO_3^- or NH_4^+ supply modifies the root system architecture of Cedrus atlantica seedlings grown in a split-root device. Journal of Plant Physiology, 163: 1293-1304.
- Brinton W.F., 2000. *Compost quality, standards and guidelines*. Final report by Woods End Research Laboratories for the New York State Association of recyclers.
- Bronson K.F., 2008. Forms of inorganic nitrogen in soil. In: Schepers J.S. and Raun W.R. (eds.), Nitrogen in agricultural systems. American Society of Agronomy, Inc., Crop Science Society of America, Inc., Soil Science society of America, Inc. USA, pp. 31-56.
- Burger M. and Jackson L.E., 2003. *Microbial immobilization of ammonium and nitrate in relation to ammonification and nitrification rates in organic and conventional cropping systems*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 35: 29-36.
- Burkart M.R. and Stoner J.D., 2001. *Nitrogen in groundwater associated with agricultural systems*. In: Follet R.F. and Hatfield J.L. (eds.), Nitrogen in the environment: sources, problems, and management. Elsevier Science B.V., Netherlands, pp. 123-146.
- Butler T.J. and Muir J.P., 2006. *Dairy manure compost improves soil and increases tall wheatgrass yield*. Agronomy Journal, 98: 1090-1096.
- Celik I., Ortas I. and Kilic S., 2004. Effects of compost, mycorrhiza, manure and fertilizer on some physical properties of a Chromoxerert soil. Soil and Tillage Research, 78: 59-67.
- Chang E.H., Chung R.S. and Tsai Y.H., 2007. *Effect of different application rates of organic fertilizer on soil enzyme activity and microbial population*. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 53: 132-140.

- Crawford N.M. and Glass D.M., 1998. *Molecular and physiological aspects of nitrate uptake in plants*. Trends in Plant Science, 3 (10): 389-395.
- Cristoforetti A., Piccinini S. And Rossi L., 1997. *Il compostaggio in ambito rurale*. Supplemento de L'Informatore Agrario 44: 33-38.
- Daniel-Vedele F., Filleur S. and Caboche M., 1998. *Nitrate transport: a key step in nitrate assimilation*. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 1: 235-239.
- De Nobili M. and Maggioni A., 1993. Influenza della sostanza organica sulle propietà fisiche del suolo. In: Nannipieri P. (ed.), Ciclo della sostanza organica nel suolo: aspetti agronomici, chimici, ecologici e selvicolturali. Pàtron editore, Bologna, Italy, pp. 43-54.
- De Nobili M., 1999. *Maturazione della sostanza organica*. In: (Mi.P.A. Progetto ed. PANDA Vol.1) "I fertilizzanti organici". Edizioni L'Informatore Agrario, Verona. pp. 243-246.
- Dell'Agnola G., Nannipieri P. and Nardi S., 1993. Sostanza organica e molecole umiche. In: Nannipieri P. (ed.), Ciclo della sostanza organica nel suolo: aspetti agronomici, chimici, ecologici e selvicolturali. Pàtron editore, Bologna, Italy, pp. 21-40.
- Diacono M. and Montemurro F., 2010. Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development., 30: 401-422.
- Eghball B., 2002. Soil properties as influenced by phosphorus- and nitrogen-based manure and compost applications. Agronomy Journal, 94: 128-135.
- Engels C. and Marschner H., 1995. *Plant uptake and utilization of nitrogen*. In: Bacon P.E. (ed.), Nitrogen fertilization in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp. 41-67.
- Evanylo G., Sherony C., Spargo J., Starner D., Brosius M. and Haering K., 2008. Soil and water environmental effects of fertilizer-, manure-, and compost-based fertility practices in an organic vegetable cropping system. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 127: 50-58.

FAO, I. 1990. Guidelines for Soil Profile Description. FAO, Rome, Italy.

- Favoino E. and Hogg D., 2007. *The potential role of compost in reducing greenhouse gases*.Waste Management Research, 26: 61-69.
- Ferreras L., Gomez E., Toresani S., Firpo I. and Rotondo R., 2006. Effect of organic amendments on some physical, chemical and biological properties in a horticultural soil. Bioresource Technology, 97: 635-640.

- Follett R.F., 2001. *Nitrogen transformation and transport processes*. In: Follett R.F. and Hatfield J.L. (eds.), Nitrogen in the environment: sources, problems, and management. Elsevier Science B.V, Netherlands, pp. 17-44.
- Fontenot J.P., Smith L.W. and Sutton A.L., 1983. *Alternative utilization of animal wastes*. Journal of Animal Science, 57: 221-233.
- Forman D., Al-Dabbagh S. and Doll R., 1985. *Nitrate, nitrites and gastric cancer in Great Britain.* Nature, 313: 620-625.
- Galloway J.N., Dentener F.J., Capone D.G., Boyer E.W., Howarth R.W., Seitzinger S.P., Asner G.P., Cleveland C.C., Green P.A., Holland E.A., Karl D.M., Michaels A.F., Porter J.H., Townsend A.R. and Vörösmarty C.J., 2004. *Nitrogen cycles: past, present, and future*. Biogeochemistry, 70: 153-226.
- García-Gil J.C., Ceppi S.B., Velasco M.I., Polo A. and Senesi N., 2004. Long-term effects of amendment with municipal solid waste compost on the elemental and acidic functional group composition and pH-buffer capacity of soil humic acids. Geoderma, 121: 135-142.
- García-Gil J.C., Plaza C., Soler-Rovira P. and Polo A., 2000. Long-term effects of municipal solid waste compost application on soil enzyme activities and microbial biomass. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 32: 1907-1913.
- Giusquiami P.L., Pagliai M., Gigliotti G., Businelli D. And Benetti A., 1995. Urban waste compost: effect on physical, chemical and biochemical soil properties. Journal of Environmental Quality, 24: 175-182.
- Glass A.D.M., 2003. Nitrogen use efficiency of crop plants: physiological constraints upon nitrogen absorption. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 22 (5): 453-470.
- Grayston S.J., Wang S., Campbell C.D. and Edwards A.C., 1997. Selective influence of plant species on microbial diversity in the rhizosphere. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 30 (3): 369-378.
- Guo D., Mitchell R.J., Withington J.M., Fan P.P. and Hendricks J.J., 2008. Endogenous and exogenous controls of root life span, mortality and nitrogen flux in a longleaf pine forest: root branch order predominates. Journal of Ecology, 96: 737-745.
- Hall S.J. and Matson P.A., 1999. *Nitrogen oxide emissions after nitrogen additions in tropical forests*. Nature, 400: 152-155.
- Hargreaves J.C., Adl M.S. and Warman P.R., 2008. A review of the use of composted municipal solid waste in agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 123: 1-14.

- Hendricks J.J., Aber J.D., Nadelhoffer K.J. and Hallett R.D., 2000. *Nitrogen control on fine root substrate quality in temperate forest ecosystems*. Ecosystems, 3: 57-69.
- Hendrix J.E., 2002. Production-related assimilate transport and partitioning. In: Pessarakli M (ed.), Handbook of plant and crop physiology. Second edition, Marcel Decker, New York USA, pp. 421-448.
- Herencia J.F., Ruiz-Porras J.C., Melero S., Garcia-Galavis P.A., Morillo E. and Maqueda C., 2007. Comparison between organic and mineral fertilization for soil fertility levels, crop macronutrient concentrations, and yield. Agronomy Journal, 99: 973-983.
- Huang X., Lakso A.N. and Eissenstat D.M., 2005. Interactive effects of soil temperature and moisture on Concord grape root respiration. Journal of Experimental Botany, 56 (420): 2651-2660.
- Imsande J. and Touraine B., 1994. *N demand and the regulation of nitrate uptake*. Plant Physiology, 105: 3-7.
- Jackson L.E., Burger M. and Cavagnaro T.R., 2008. *Roots, nitrogen transformation, and ecosystem services*. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59: 341-363.
- Jordan M.O. and Habib R., 1996. *Mobilizable carbon reserves in Young peach trees as evidenced by trunk girdling experiments*. Journal of Experimental Botany, 47 (294): 79-87.
- Keeney D.R. and Hatfield J.L., 2001. The nitrogen cycle, historical perspective, and current and potential future concerns. In: Follet R.F. and Hatfield J.L. (eds.), Nitrogen in the environment: sources, problems, and management. Elsevier Science B.V., Netherlands, pp. 3-16.
- Kingston H.M, 1988. Environ. Protection Agency IAG DWI-393254-01-0 January 1-March 31, Quarterly Report.
- Kramer S.B., Reganold J.P., Glover J.D., Bohannan B.J.M. and Mooney H.A., 2006. Reduced nitrate leaching and enhanced denitrifier activity and efficiency in organically fertilized soils. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103 (12): 4522-4527.
- Kuzyakov Y., Friedel J.K. and Stahr K., 2000. *Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 32: 1485-1498.
- Larcher W., 2003. Physiological plant ecology: ecophysiology and stress physiology of functional groups. Fourth edition, Springer, Germany.
- Lea P.J. and Azevedo R.A., 2006. *Nitrogen use efficiency 1. Uptake of nitrogen from the soil.* Annals of Applied Biology, 149: 243–247.

- Lea P.J. and Miflin B.J., 2011. Nitrogen assimilation and its relevance to crop improvement.In: Foyer C.H. and Zhang H. (eds.), Annual Plant Reviews, 42. Nitrogen metabolism in plants in the post-genomic era. Blackwell Publishing, Iowa, USA, pp. 1-40.
- Lee J.J, Park R.D., Kim Y.W., Shim J.H., Chae D.H., Rim Y.S., Sohn B.K., Kim T.H. and Kim K.Y., 2004. *Effect of food waste compost on microbial population, soil enzyme activity and lettuce growth*. Bioresource technology, 93: 21-28.
- Leifeld J., Siebert S and Kogel-Knabner I., 2002. *Changes in the chemical composition of soil organic matter after application of compost*. European Journal of Soil Science, 53: 299-309.
- Leonardos E.D. and Grodzinski B., 2002. *Quantifying immediate carbon export from source leaves*. In: Pessarakli M (ed.), Handbook of plant and crop physiology. Second edition, Marcel Decker, New York USA, pp. 407-420.
- Linkohr B.I., Williamson L.C., Fitter A.H. and Leyser H.M.O., 2002. Nitrate and phosphate availability and distribution have different effects on root system architecture of Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 29 (6): 751-760.
- Liu R.X., Zhou Z.G., Guo W.Q., Chen B.L. and Oosterhuis D.M., 2008. *Effects of N* fertilization on root development and activity of water-stressed cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) plants. Agricultural Water Management, 95: 1261-1270.
- MacCarthy P., 2001. *The principles of humic substances: an introduction to the first principle.* In: Ghabbour E.A. and Davies G. (eds.), Humic substances: structures, models and functions. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK, pp. 19-30.
- Marchi S., Sebastiani L., Gucci R. And Tognetti R., 2005. Sink-source transition in peach leaves during shoot development. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 130 (6): 928-935.
- Marschner H., 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic press, London.
- Masia A., 1998. Superoxide dismutase and catalase activities in apple fruit during ripening and post-harvest and with special reference to ethylene. Physiologia Plantarum, 104: 668-672.
- McKay H.M. and White M.S., 1996. *Fine root electrolyte leakage and moisture content: indices of Sitka spruce and Douglas-fir seedling performance after desiccation.* New Forest, 13: 139-162.
- Melero S., Madejón E., Ruiz J.C. and Herencia J.F., 2007. *Chemical and biochemical properties of a clay soil under dryland agriculture system as affected by organic fertilization*. European Journal of Agronomy, 26:327-334.

- Micciulla O. And Benedetti A., 1999. Stabilizzazione igienico sanitaria: i patogeni. In: (Mi.P.A. Progetto ed. PANDA Vol.1) "I fertilizzanti organici". Edizioni L'Informatore Agrario, Verona, pp. 281-286.
- Misra N. and Gupta A. K., 2006. Effect of salinity and different nitrogen sources on the activity of antioxidant enzymes and indole alkaloid content in Catharanthus roseus seedlings. Journal of Plant Physiology, 163: 11-18.
- Mittler R., 2002. Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. TRENDS in Plant Science, 7 (9): 405-410.
- Mosier A.R., 2001. *Exchange of gaseous nitrogen compounds between terrestrial systems and the atmohsphere*. In: Follet R.F. and Hatfield J.L. (eds.), Nitrogen in the environment: sources, problems, and management. Elsevier Science B.V., Netherlands, pp. 291-310.
- Myrold D.D. and Bottomley P.J., 2008. *Nitrogen mineralization and immobilization*. In: Schepers J.S. and Raun W.R. (eds.), Nitrogen in agricultural systems. American Society of Agronomy, Inc., Crop Science Society of America, Inc., Soil Science society of America, Inc. USA, pp. 157-172.
- Novoa R. and Loomis R.S., 1981. Nitrogen and plant production. Plant and soil, 58: 177-204.
- Oades J.M., 1988. The retention of organic matter in soils. Biogeochemistry, 5: 35-70.
- Oades J.M., 1995. An overview of processes affecting the cycling of organic carbon in soils.
 In: Zepp R.G. e Sonntag C. (eds.), The role of non living organic matter in the earth's carbon cycle, Dahlem Workshop reports, John Wyley, New York, pp. 293-303.
- Oliveira Medici L., Antunes Azevedo R., Smith R.S. and Lea P.L., 2004. *The influence of nitrogen supply on antioxidant enzymes in plant roots*. Functional Plant Biology, 31: 1-9.
- O'Riordan T. and Bentham G., 1993. *The politics of nitrate in the UK*. In: Burt T. P., Hadthwaite A. L. and Trudgill S. T. (eds.), Nitrate: processes, patterns and management. Wiley, Chichester, UK, pp. 57-68.
- Peoples M.B., Freney J.R. and Mosier A.R., 1995. *Minimizing gaseous losses of nitrogen*. In: Bacon P.E. (ed.), Nitrogen fertilization in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp. 565-602.
- Pérez-Piqueres A., Edel-Hermann V., Alabouvette C. and Steinberg C., 2006. Response of soil microbial communities to compost amendments. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 38: 460-470.
- Perucci P., 1992. Enzyme activity and microbial biomass in a field soil amended with municipal refuse. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 14: 54-60.

- Perucci P., Bonciarelli U., Santilocchi R., 1997. *Effect of rotation, nitrogen fertilization and management of crop residues on some chemical, microbiological and biochemical properties of soil.* Biology and Fertility of Soils, 24: 311-316.
- Porro D., Dorigatti C., Stefanini M. and Ceschini A., 2000. Use of SPAD meter in diagnosis of nutritional status in apple and grapevine. In: ISHS, pp 243-252.
- Postgate J., 1998. Nitrogen fixation. Third edition, Cambridge University Press, UK.
- Prasad R. and Power J.F., 1997. *Soil fertility management for sustainable agriculture*. Lewis publishers, New York, USA.
- Rader J., Walser R., Williams C. and Davis T., 1985. *Organic and conventional peach production and economics*. Biological Agriculture and Horticulture, 2: 215-222.
- Rasmussen T.S. and Henry R.J., 1990. Starch determination in horticultural plant material by an enzymic – colorimetric procedure. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 52: 159-170.
- Robertson G.P. and Vitousek P.M., 2009. *Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an essential resource*. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 34: 97-125.
- Roosta H.R., Sajjadinia A., Rahimi A. and Schjoerring J.K., 2009. *Responses of cucumber* plant to NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ nutrition: the relative addition rate technique vs. cultivation at constant nitrogen concentration. Scientia Horticulturae, 121: 397-403.
- Ruol G. and Santon L., 2009. *Il compostaggio: generalità e normative di riferimento*. In: compost, una fonte di nuova fertilità. Veneto Agricoltura, pp. 7-17.
- Sadik M.W., El Shaer H.M. and Yakot H.M., 2010. Recycling of agriculture and animal farm wastes into compost using compost activator in Saudi Arabia. Journal of International Environmental Application and Science, 5(3): 397-403.
- Saenz J., DeJong T. and Weinbaum S., 1997. Nitrogen stimulated increases in peach yields are associated with extended fruit development period and increased fruit sink capacity. American Society for Horticultural Science, USA.
- Sanchez E.E., Khemira H., Sugar D. and Righetti T.L., 1995. Nitrogen management in orchards. In: Bacon P.E. (ed.), Nitrogen fertilization in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp. 327-380.
- Sanchez P., Palm C., Szott L., Cuevas E. and Lal R., 1989. Organic input management in tropical agroecosystems. In: Coleman D.C., Oades J.M. and Uehara G. (eds.), Dynamics of soil organic matter in tropical ecosystems. NifTAL Project. University of Hawaii, Honolulu, Hi, pp.125-152.

- Saunders W.M. and Williams E.G., 1955. *Observations of the determinations of organic phosphorus in soils*. Journal of Soil Science, 6: 254-267.
- Saville D.J. and Rowarth J.S., 2008. *Statistical measures, hypotheses, and tests in applied research*. Journal of Natural Resources and Life Sciences Education, 37: 74-82.
- Scheible W.R., González-Fontes A., Lauerer M., Müller-Röber B., Caboche M. and Stitt M., 1997. Nitrate acts as a signal to induce organic acid metabolism and repress starch metabolism in Tobacco. The Plant Cell, 9: 783-798.
- Schulten H.-R. and Schnitzer M., 1998. *The chemistry of soil organic nitrogen: a review*. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 26:1-15.
- Schuman G., Stanley M. and Knudsen D., 1973. *Automated total nitrogen analysis of soil and plant samples*. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 37: 480-481.
- Sequi P. and Nannipieri P., 1989. *Il suolo come sistema biologico*. In: Sequi P. (ed.), Chimica del suolo. Pàtron Editore, Bologna, Italy, pp. 223-244.
- Shi W. and Norton J.M., 2000. *Microbial control of nitrate concentrations in an agricultural soil treated with dairy waste compost or ammonium fertilizer*. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 32: 1453-1457.
- Sims J.T., 1995. Organic wastes as alternative nitrogen sources. In: Bacon P.E. (ed.), Nitrogen fertilization in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp. 487-536.
- Smith P.K., Krohn R.I., Hermanson G.T., Mallia A.K., Gartner F.H., Provenzano M.D., Fujimoto E.K., Goeke N.M., Olson B.J. and Klenk D.C., 1985. *Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid.* Analytical Biochemistry, 150: 76-85.
- Stevenson F.J. and Cole M.A., 1999. Cycles of soil: carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, sulfur, micronutrients. Second edition, John Wiley and Sons, Inc., USA.
- Stitt M. and Feil R., 1999. Lateral root frequency decreases when nitrate accumulates in tobacco transformants with low nitrate reductase activity: consequences for the regulation of biomass partitioning between shoot and root. Plant and Soil, 215: 143-153.
- Stylianidis D. and Syrgiannidis G., 1995. *Peach tree fertilization*. Agric. Crop and Anim. Husb., 9: 181-190.
- Sweeten J.M. and Auvermann B.W., 2008. *Composting manure and sludge*. AgriLife Extension, Texas A and MSystem. E-479.

- Tagliavini M., Scudellazi D., Marangoni B. and Toselli M., 1996. Nitrogen fertilization management in orchards to reconcile productivity and environmental aspects. Fertilizer Research, 43: 93-102.
- Taiz L. and Zeiger E., 2010. *Plant physiology*. Fifth edition, Sinauer associates, MA, USA.
- Tan K.H., 2011. *Principles of soil chemistry*. Fourth edition. CRC Press, Tailor and Francis group. FL, USA.
- Tian Q., Chen F., Liu J., Zhang F. and Mi G., 2008. Inhibition of maize root growth by high nitrate supply is correlated with reduced IAA levels in roots. Journal of Plant Physiology, 165: 942-951.
- Tischner, 2000. *Nitrate uptake and reduction in higher and lower plants*. Plant, Cell and Environment, 23: 1005-1024.
- Tjoelker M.G., Craine J.M., Wedin D., Reich P.B. and Tilman D., 2005. *Linking leaf and root traits syndromes among 39 grassland and savannah species*. New Phytologist, 167: 493-508.
- Touraine B., 2004. Nitrate uptake by roots-transporters and root development. In: Amâncio S. and Stulen I. (eds.), Nitrogen acquisition and assimilation in higher plants. Kluwer academic publishers, Netherlands, pp. 1-34.
- Touraine B., Daniel-Vedele F. and Forde B., 2001. *Nitrate uptake and its regulation*. In: Lea P.J. and Morot-Gaudry J.F. (eds.), Plant nitrogen. Springer, Germany, pp. 1:25.
- Troeh F.R. and Thompson L.M., 2005. Soils and soil fertility. Sixth edition. Blackwell Publishing, Iowa, USA.
- Trumbore S., 2009. *Radiocarbon and soil carbon dynamics*. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences, 37: 47-66.
- Tu C., Ristaino J.B. and Hu S., 2006. Soil microbial biomass and activity in organic tomato farming systems: Effects of organic inputs and straw mulching. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 38: 247-255.
- Ungaro F., Calzolari C., Tarocco P., Giapponesi A. and Sarno G., 2002. Soil organic matter in the soils of Emilia Romagna plain (Northern Italy): knowledge and management policies. Ottawa OEDC Expert Meeting on Organic Carbon indicators. Agricultural Land, supplement special issue, 85.
- Ungaro F., Staffilani F., Guermandi M. and Tarocco P., 2008. A parametric situation approach conditional on soil map delineations to map soil carbon stock at regional scale (Emilia Romagna, Italy). 84° Congresso Nazionale della Società Geologica Italiana.

Violante P., 2005. Chimica del suolo e della nutrizione delle piante. Edagricole, Italy.

- Von Wirén N., Gazzarrini S. and Frommer W.B., 1997. *Regulation of mineral nitrogen uptake in plants*. Plant and soil, 196: 191-199.
- Walch-Liu P., Filleur S., Gan Y. and Forde B.G., 2005. Signaling mechanisms intregrating root and shoot responses to changes in the nitrogen supply. Photosynthesis Research, 83: 239-250.
- Walker D.J., Clemente R. and Bernal M.P., 2004. Contrasting effects of manure and compost on soil pH, heavy metal availability and growth of Chenopodium album L. in a soil contaminated by pyritic mine waste. Chemosphere, 57: 215-224.
- Wang H., Mo J., Lu X., Xue J., Li J. and Fang Y., 2009. Effects of elevated nitrogen deposition on soil microbial biomass carbon in major subtropical forests of southern China. Front. For. China, 4 (1): 21-27.
- Wang Y., Mi G., Chen F., Zhang J. and Zhang F., 2004. Response of root morphology to nitrate supply and its contribution to nitrogen accumulation in maize. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 27 (12): 2189-2202.
- Withington J.M., Reich P.B., Oleksyn J. and Eissenstat D.M., 2006. Comparisons of structure and life span in roots and leaves among temperate trees. Ecological Monographs, 76 (3): 381-397.
- Wolf B. and Snyder G.H., 2003. Sustainable soils: the place of organic matter in sustaining soils and their productivity. Food products press, New York, USA.
- Wong J.W.C., Ma K.K., Fang K.M. Cheung C., 1999. *Utilization of a manure compost for organic farming in Hong Kong*. Bioresource Technology, 67: 43-46.
- Wu W.X., Liu W., Lu H.H., Chen Y.X., Devare M. and Thies J., 2009. Use of ¹³C labeling to assess carbon partitioning in transgenic and nontransgenic (parental) rice and their rhizosphere soil microbial communities. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 67: 93-102.
- Yamaya T. and Oaks A., 2004. *Metabolic regulation of ammonium uptake and assimilation*.In: Amâncio S. and Stulen I. (eds.), Nitrogen acquisition and assimilation in higher plants. Kluwer academic publishers, Netherlands, pp. 35-64.
- Zhang H., Jennings A., Barlow P.W. and Forde B.G., 1999. Dual pathways for regulation of root branching by nitrate. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96: 6529-6534.
- Zorzi G., 1997. *La legislazione sulla produzione e l'impiego del compost.* Supplemento all'Informatore Agrario 7-13: 7-10.